IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA JACKSONVILLE DIVISION

In re:

TAYLOR, BEAN & WHITAKER MORTGAGE CORP., REO SPECIALISTS, LLC and HOME AMERICA MORTGAGE, INC.,

Debtors.

Chapter 11

Case No. 3:09-bk-07047-JAF Case No. 3:09-bk-10022-JAF Case No. 3:09-bk-10023-JAF

PLAN SUPPLEMENT FILED WITH RESPECT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED JOINT PLAN OF LIQUIDATION OF THE DEBTORS AND THE OFFICIAL COMMITTEE OF UNSECURED CREDITORS

TROUTMAN SANDERS LLP

Jeffrey W. Kelley (GA Bar No. 412296) jeff.kelley@troutmansanders.com

J. David Dantzler, Jr. (GA Bar No. 205125) david.dantzler@troutmansanders.com

600 Peachtree Street, Suite 5200

Atlanta, Georgia 30308

Telephone No: 404-885-3358 Facsimile No.: 404-885-3995

SPECIAL COUNSEL FOR THE DEBTOR AND DEBTOR IN POSSESSION TAYLOR, BEAN & WHITAKER MORTGAGE CORP.

STICHTER, RIEDEL, BLAIN & PROSSER, P.A.

Russell M. Blain (FBN 236314)

rblain@srbp.com

Edward J. Peterson, III (FBN 014612)

epeterson@srbp.com

110 East Madison Street, Suite 200

Tampa, Florida 33602

Telephone No.: 813-229-0144 Facsimile No.: 813-229-1811

COUNSEL FOR THE DEBTORS AND DEBTORS

IN POSSESSION

BERGER SINGERMAN PA

Paul Steven Singerman (Fla. Bar No. 378860) singerman@bergersingerman.com

Arthur J. Spector (Fla. Bar No. 620777)

aspector@bergersingerman.com

200 South Biscayne Boulevard

Suite 1000

Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone No.: 305-755-9500 Facsimile No.: 305-714-4340

COUNSEL FOR THE OFFICIAL COMMITTEE OF UNSECURED CREDITORS OF TAYLOR, BEAN & WHITAKER MORTGAGE CORP.

NOW COME Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Mortgage Corp. ("TBW"), REO Specialists, LLC ("REO"), and Home America Mortgage, Inc. ("HAM") (collectively, the "Debtors") and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors (the "Committee"; the Debtors and the Committee are, collectively, the "Plan Proponents"), and file this Plan Supplement to provide certain information supplemental to the Third Amended and Restated Joint Plan of Liquidation of the Debtors and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors, dated June 22, 2011 [Dkt. No. 3240] (as amended or restated from time to time, the "Plan"). Capitalized terms not defined herein have the meanings given to them in the Plan.

This Plan Supplement provides the following attachments relevant to the Plan:

- i. Plan Trust Agreement (Exhibit A);
- ii. Designation of the Plan Advisory Committee (Exhibit B); and
- iii. Designated Insurance Policies (Exhibit C).

Subject to certain restrictions and requirements set forth in § 1127 of the Bankruptcy Code, Bankruptcy Rule 3019 and the Plan, the Plan Proponents reserve the right to alter, amend, modify, revoke or withdraw this Plan Supplement and any attachments hereto prior to the substantial consummation of the Plan.

Plan Trust Agreement

1. Attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u> is the Plan Trust Agreement. The Plan Trust Agreement attached hereto contains certain changes from the Plan Trust Agreement that was circulated in the solicitation package. A blackline showing those changes is also attached as part of Exhibit A. Among other things, the Plan Supplement provides for the following: (a) the establishment and funding of a liquidating trust (referred to as the Plan Trust), (b) the

appointment of the Plan Trustee for the Plan Trust, (c) the establishment of a Plan Advisory Committee and the appointment of the members thereof, (d) the establishment of the duties, powers and responsibilities of the Plan Trust, the Plan Trustee and the Plan Advisory Committee; (e) the remittance of Distributions in accordance with the Plan's provisions on Distribution on claims and the Plan Trust Agreement; (f) certain indemnities and exculpations provided to the Plan Trust, the Plan Trustee and related parties, and (g) the provisions required under the Internal Revenue Code for the Plan Trust to qualify as a liquidating trust for federal income tax purposes, including limitations on the purpose of the Plan Trust and the term of the Plan Trust, the requirement that the Plan Trust maintain reserves for Disputed Claims, the requirement that the Plan Trustee make available to each Beneficiary of the Plan Trust an estimate of the value of the Plan Trust Assets by filing such valuation with the Bankruptcy Court as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, and the requirement that the Plan Trustee mail to each Beneficiary of the Plan Trust annually a statement setting forth such Beneficiary's share of items of income, gain, loss, deduction or credit and advise all such Beneficiaries to report such items on their federal and state income tax returns, subject to the terms of the Plan Trust Agreement as more particularly stated therein.

Plan Advisory Committee

2. Attached hereto as <u>Exhibit B</u> are the names of the initial Plan Advisory Committee. The Plan Advisory Committee is established pursuant to the terms of the Plan and represents the interests of the Holders of Beneficial Interests during the existence of the Plan Trust, and shall have the obligation to undertake in good faith each of the acts and responsibilities set forth for the Plan Advisory Committee in the Plan Trust Agreement or in the Plan for the benefit of the Beneficiaries. The Plan Advisory Committee shall begin to act on the

2221540v5 - 2 -

Case 3:09-bk-07047-JAF Doc 3322 Filed 07/10/11 Page 4 of 10

Effective Date and shall oversee the actions of the Plan Trustee in accordance with the terms of

the Plan Trust Agreement until further Order of the Bankruptcy Court.

Insurance Policies

3. Attached hereto as Exhibit 3 is a list of the Designated Insurance Policies. The

Debtors shall, on the Effective Date, assume each of the Designated Insurance Policies to which

it is a party, as provided in Article 9.D of the Plan. In accordance with Article 9.D of the Plan, to

the extent the Designated Insurance Policies are executory, they shall be assumed by the Debtor

without payment of any cure amount, unless otherwise determined by the Bankruptcy Court

pursuant to a Final Order or agreed to by the parties thereto prior to the Effective Date. If a

party to a Designated Insurance Policy maintains that a payment by a Debtor is required to

assume such policy, such party must file with the Court and serve on counsel to the Plan

Proponents on or before Friday, July 22, 2011, a pleading that sets forth (1) the factual and

legal basis for its assertion that such policy is executory, and (2) the amount of the cure claim

that it asserts must be paid, in reasonable detail. If an objection is filed, the Debtor will set the

matter for a hearing before the Bankruptcy Court, if the matter cannot be resolved consensually.

Dated: July 10, 2011

[Signatures on following page]

- 3 -2221540v5

Respectfully submitted,

TAYLOR, BEAN & WHITAKER MORTGAGE CORP.
REO SPECIALIST, LLC
HOME AMERICA MORTGAGE, INC.

By: /s/ Neil F. Luria

Neil F. Luria

Chief Restructuring Officer

OFFICIAL COMMITTEE OF UNSECURED CREDITORS

By: /s/ Sheryl L. Newman

Sheryl L. Newman Chairperson

2221540v5 - 4 -

/s/ Jeffrey W. Kelley

Jeffrey W. Kelley (GA Bar No. 412296)

jeff.kelley@troutmansanders.com

J. David Dantzler, Jr. (GA Bar No. 205125)

david.dantzler@troutmansanders.com

TROUTMAN SANDERS LLP

600 Peachtree Street, Suite 5200

Atlanta, Georgia 30308

Telephone No:404-885-3358

Facsimile No.: 404-885-3995

SPECIAL COUNSEL FOR THE DEBTOR AND DEBTOR IN POSSESSION TAYLOR, BEAN & WHITAKER MORTGAGE CORP.

Russell M. Blain (FBN 236314)

rblain@srbp.com

Edward J. Peterson, III (FBN 014612)

epeterson@srbp.com

STICHTER, RIEDEL, BLAIN & PROSSER, P.A.

110 East Madison Street, Suite 200

Tampa, Florida 33602

Telephone No.: 813-229-0144

Facsimile No.: 813-229-1811

COUNSEL FOR THE DEBTORS AND DEBTORS IN

POSSESSION

Paul Steven Singerman (Fla. Bar No. 378860)

singerman@bergersingerman.com

Arthur J. Spector (Fla. Bar No. 620777)

aspector@bergersingerman.com

BERGER SINGERMAN PA

200 South Biscayne Boulevard

Suite 1000

Miami, Florida 33131

Telephone No.: 305-755-9500

Facsimile No.: 305-714-4340

COUNSEL FOR THE OFFICIAL COMMITTEE OF UNSECURED CREDITORS OF TAYLOR, BEAN & WHITAKER MORTGAGE CORP.

2221540v5 - 5 -

Exhibit A

Plan Trust Agreement

(See Attached)

Exhibit B

Designation of the Plan Advisory Committee

Eugene Chikowski

Ron Haynie

Sheryl Newman

Exhibit C

Designated Insurance Policies

TYPE OF POLICY	<u>Broker</u>	POLICY NO.	<u>CARRIER</u>
General Liability	Brown & Brown 47 SW 17 th Street Ocala, FL 34471-8141	0100000601-0	Kinsale Insurance Company 6803 Paragon Place, Ste 120 Richmond, VA 23230
Umbrella Insurance	Brown & Brown 47 SW 17 th Street Ocala, FL 34471-8141	0100000599-0	Kinsale Insurance Company 6803 Paragon Place, Ste 120 Richmond, VA 23230
Property Insurance	Brown & Brown 47 SW 17 th Street Ocala, FL 34471-8141	LHT368763	Landmark American Insurance 945 E. Paces Ferry Rd Ste 1800 Atlanta, GA 30326
Auto Insurance	Brown & Brown 47 SW 17 th Street Ocala, FL 34471-8141	075933950	Progressive Insurance 6300 Wilson Mills Road Mayfield Village, OH 44143
Employment Related Practices with 3 year tail	JMB Insurance 900 North Michigan Avenue, 15 th Floor Chicago, IL 60611	000645601	Ironshore Specialty Insurance Company One State Street Plaza, 7 th FL New York, NY 10004
Post-Petition D&O with 3 year tail	JMB Insurance 900 North Michigan Avenue, 15 th Floor Chicago, IL 60611	G24086689-002	Westchester Surplus Lines Insurance Company 500 Colonial Ctr Pkwy Ste 200 Roswell, GA 30076
Pre-Petition D&O with 3 year tail	JMB Insurance 900 North Michigan Avenue, 15 th Floor Chicago, IL 60611	01-203-95-48	National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, PA 175 Water Street New York, NY 10038
Post-Petition Employed Lawyers with 3 year tail	JMB Insurance 900 North Michigan Avenue, 15 th Floor Chicago, IL 60611	EO405779	Colony Insurance Company 8720 Stony Point Parkway, Suite 300 Richmond, VA 23235
Pre-Petition Employed Lawyers with 3 year tail	JMB Insurance 900 North Michigan Avenue, 15 th Floor Chicago, IL 60611	01-179-62-29	American International Group Specialty Lines Insurance Co 175 Water Street New York, NY 10038.

Addresses Relating to Property Insurance Policy LHT368763				
Property Insurance	9413 Corporate Lake Drive, Tampa, FL 33634			
Property Insurance	4901 Vineland Road, Orlando, FL 32811			
Property Insurance	4901 Vineland Road, Orlando, FL 32811			

2221540v5 - 2 -

PLAN TRUST AGREEMENT

TAYLOR, BEAN & WHITAKER MORTGAGE CORP., HOME AMERICA MORTGAGE, INC., and REO SPECIALISTS, LLC,

as Debtors,

and

NEIL F. LURIA,

as Trustee

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PAGE
SECTION I	APPOINTMENT OF TRUSTEE2
SECTION II	PLAN TRUST2
A.	Establishment
В.	Funding
C.	Purpose5
D.	Beneficiaries Deemed Grantors of Plan Trust
E.	Documentation of Trust Assets5
F.	Initial Valuation of Trust Assets5
G.	Termination 6
SECTION III	TRUSTEE6
A.	Trustee is a Fiduciary6
B.	Scope of Authority6
C.	Power to Declare Disputed Ownership Funds
D.	Power to Establish Qualified Settlement Funds
E.	Proof of Authority
F.	Limitations on Trustee's Authority; Permitted Investments
G.	Reliance by Trustee
H.	Authorization to Expend Trust Assets
I.	Trust Administrator
J.	Post Effective Date Management
K.	Compensation
L.	Bond
M.	Insurance
N.	Confidentiality
O.	Final Decree
P.	Termination
SECTION IV	BENEFICIARIES15
A.	Maintenance of List of Beneficiaries
B.	Identification of Beneficiaries
C.	Withholding

D.	Tax Identification Numbers	16
SECTION	V ADVISORY COMMITTEE	16
A.	Duties and Powers	16
В.	Advisory Committee Members	16
C.	Advisory Committee is a Fiduciary	16
D.	Material Decisions	17
E.	Unanimous Decisions	19
F.	Conflicts	19
G.	Bylaws and Voting; Selection of Chair; Execution of Documents	19
H.	Reporting	19
I.	No Compensation; Reimbursement of Committee Members	19
J.	Objection to Fees	20
K.	Termination	20
SECTION	VI DISTRIBUTIONS	20
A.	Application of Trust Assets	20
В.	Distributions	20
C.	Reserves Established by Trustee	20
D.	Priorities	21
E.	De Minimis Distributions	21
F.	Undeliverable Distributions	21
G.	Compliance with Laws	21
SECTION	VII REPORTS, TAX MATTERS, BOOKS AND RECORDS	21
A.	Initial Valuation	21
B.	Annual Financial Statements and Statement to Beneficiaries	21
C.	Quarterly Filings with Bankruptcy Court and U.S. Trustee	21
D.	Federal Income Tax	21
E.	Other Filings	22
F.	Disputed Ownership Fund – Tax Effect	22
G.	Qualified Settlement Fund – Tax Effect	22
H.	Books and Records	22
SECTION	VIII LIMITATION OF LIABILITY	23
A.	Exculpation	23
В.	Indemnification	23

SECTION IX	SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE	24
A.	Removal	24
B.	Resignation; Death	24
C.	Acceptance of Appointment by Successor Trustee	24
D.	Continuation of Plan Trust	24
SECTION X	EVIDENCE OF AND NON-TRANSFERABILITY OF BENEFICIARY'S INTERESTS	25
A.	Beneficial Interests Maintained in Book Entry Form	25
B.	Non-Transferability of Beneficial Interests	25
C.	Limited Exception to Non-Transferability of Beneficial Interests	25
D.	Beneficial Interests in Plan Trust Not a Security	26
SECTION XI	MISCELLANEOUS	26
A.	Amendment; Waiver	26
B.	Intention of Parties to Establish Grantor Trust	26
C.	Successor; Preservation of Privilege	26
D.	Bankruptcy Court Jurisdiction	26
E.	Cooperation	27
F.	Governing Law	27
G.	Severability	27
H.	Notices	27
I.	Notices if to a Beneficiary	28
J.	Third-Party Beneficiary	29
K.	Headings	29
L.	Counterparts	29
M.	Definitions; Rules of Construction	29

PLAN TRUST AGREEMENT

THIS PLAN TRUST AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made this __ day of _____, 2011, by and among Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Mortgage Corp., a Florida corporation ("TBW"), and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Home America Mortgage, Inc., a Florida corporation ("HAM"), and REO Specialists, LLC, a Florida limited liability company ("REO"), (TBW, HAM and REO are individually, a "Debtor" and collectively, the "Debtors"), and Neil F. Luria ("Luria"), and together with any successors, in his capacity as Plan Trustee under the Plan (in such capacity, the "Trustee").

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:

- **A.** On August 24, 2009, TBW filed a voluntary petition for relief under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code (the "<u>Bankruptcy Code</u>") in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Middle District of Florida (the "<u>Bankruptcy Court</u>").
- **B.** On November 25, 2009, HAM and REO filed voluntary petitions under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Bankruptcy Court. The Debtors' respective cases were administratively consolidated for ease of administration.
- **D.** The Plan provides for the establishment of a liquidating trust for federal income tax purposes in which Assets of the Debtors shall vest on the Plan's Effective Date. The purpose of the liquidating trust is to appoint a trustee to liquidate the Assets of the respective Debtors and make the Distributions provided for under the Plan.
- E. As provided under the Plan and in this Agreement, the Plan Trust (as defined below) shall (i) accept the Assets of each Debtor transferred to the Plan Trust or cause any Plan Trust Entity (as defined below) to accept the Assets of each Debtor transferred to such Plan Trust Entity, free and clear of Liens, except as provided under the Plan, and subject to all liabilities owed under the Plan by the respective Debtor to Holders of Allowed Administrative Claims, Allowed Priority Tax Claims, Allowed Priority Claims, U.S. Trustee fees, and any obligations owing to Secured Creditors under the Plan or the Confirmation Order, and (ii) distribute all payments provided for under the Plan to such Holders and distribute the Net Distributable Assets of each Debtor's respective Estates to the Holders of Allowed Unsecured Claims against such Debtor.
- **F.** This Agreement establishes the Plan Trust, allows the Plan Trust to establish any Plan Trust Entity to further the purposes of this Agreement, appoints the Trustee for the Plan Trust, gives the Plan Trust certain right and powers with respect to any such Plan Trust Entity, and provides the framework within which the Trustee shall carry out its duties and implement key provisions of the Plan. As provided below, all Distributions the Trustee makes to Creditors shall be

As used in this Agreement, the term "Trustee" shall have the same meaning as the term "Plan Trustee" used in the Plan.

made in accordance with the Plan, this Agreement and § 301.7701-4(d) of the Treasury Regulations issued pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code (the "<u>Treasury Regulations</u>"). In accordance with such Treasury Regulations, the Plan Trust has no objective to continue or engage in the conduct of a trade or business. The Plan Trust contains a fixed determinable termination date that is not more than five (5) years from the date of creation of the Plan Trust, subject to extension as set forth herein based on all of the facts and circumstances.

- **G.** Neither the Plan nor this Agreement substantively consolidates the Assets of the Debtors. Creditors of each Debtor shall receive Distributions only from Assets of such Debtor.
- **H.** Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in the Plan.
- **NOW, THEREFORE**, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein and in the Plan, the Debtors and the Trustee agree as follows:

SECTION I APPOINTMENT OF TRUSTEE

Neil F. Luria shall serve as the Trustee under the Plan, and Luria hereby accepts such appointment and agrees to serve in such capacity, effective upon the Effective Date of the Plan.

SECTION II PLAN TRUST

A. Establishment. Pursuant to the Plan, the Debtor and the Trustee hereby establish the "Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Plan Trust" (the "<u>Plan Trust</u>") on behalf of, and for the benefit of, the Holders of Allowed Claims of the Debtors (whether such Claims are Allowed as of or subsequent to the Effective Date) (collectively, the "<u>Beneficiaries</u>"). Except as provided herein, the Plan Trust shall be vested with title to all Assets of each Debtor.

B. Funding.

1. Transfer of Title. Each Debtor hereby transfers, assigns, and delivers to the Plan Trust, effective as of the Effective Date, for the benefit of the Beneficiaries with Claims against such Debtor, all of such Debtors' right, title and interest in and to all of its Assets, including without limitation, all Claims and Causes of Action of its Estate, provided, however, (i) each Debtor hereby retains legal title to, and transfers beneficial title to, its Retained Assets pursuant to Section II.B.2(i), (ii) the Debtor retains all legal and beneficial title to its membership interests in Ocala Funding and shall have all of the Debtor's ownership of, title to, and liabilities associated with such membership interests, and (iii) any Debtor may transfer its title to any Asset to any Entity created by the Plan Trust in accordance with Section II.B.2(ii); provided, further, that all Assets as to which legal or beneficial title is transferred to the Plan Trust or any Entity created by the Plan Trust are transferred free and clear of any Lien, Claim or interest of any other Person

2182597v18 - 2 -

except as provided in the Plan, but subject to the Liabilities (defined below).² The "Trust Assets" shall mean, for each Debtor's Estate, (a) all Assets as to which legal and beneficial title are transferred to the Plan Trust by such Debtor, and (b) the beneficial title to all Retained Assets as to which legal title is retained by such Debtor. The Assets transferred to any Entity created by the Plan Trust in accordance with Section II.B.2(ii) (each, a "Plan Trust Entity") are not Trust Assets, but the Plan Trust's equity interest in such Plan Trust Entity is a Trust Asset. In accordance with § 1123(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Plan Trust shall be vested with, retain and may exclusively enforce, prosecute and resolve any or all Causes of Action that the Debtors, the Estates or the Creditors' Committee may have against any Person. The Trustee hereby accepts and agrees to hold the Trust Assets of such Debtor in trust for the Beneficiaries with Claims against such Debtor, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Plan, but subject to the Liabilities, as more particularly described below.

2. Retained Assets; Assets Transferred to a Plan Trust Entity; Abandonment of Trust Assets.

(i) Retained Assets.

From time to time on and after the Effective Date, the Trustee may elect for convenience purposes to retain in the Debtors legal title to certain Assets of such Debtor and shall identify on Exhibit B hereto any such Assets (collectively, the "Retained Assets"). As to any such Asset, the Plan Trust shall acquire beneficial ownership of, but shall not have legal title to, such Asset. The Trustee may in its discretion amend or modify Exhibit B from time to time. Upon the identification of such Retained Assets on Exhibit B, the beneficial title to those Retained Assets will be deemed conveyed as of the Plan's Effective Date. The Trustee shall update Exhibit B from time to time to reflect all assets that shall constitute Retained Assets under this Agreement. The Plan Trust shall have no responsibility for or liability pertaining to the Retained Assets, except as provided in this Agreement. Upon the liquidation of any Retained Assets by a Debtor, the Trustee shall promptly cause such proceeds to be paid to the Plan Trust in satisfaction of its obligations under the Plan.

(ii) Asset Transferred to or Held in a Plan Trust Entity.

From time to time on and after the Effective Date, a Debtor may convey all its right, title and interest in any Asset (including its legal title to any Retained Asset), and the Trustee may contribute all of its right, title and interest in any Trust Asset (including its beneficial title to any Retained

2182597v18 - 3 -

As used in this Agreement, the term "Trust Assets" shall have the same meaning as the term "Plan Trust Assets" used in the Plan.

Asset), to any Plan Trust Entity that the Plan Trust may form, so that such Plan Trust Entity has all legal and beneficial title thereto. All the benefits of ownership and liabilities with respect to such Asset or Trust Asset conveyed (hereinafter an "Entity Asset") shall transfer to such Plan Trust Entity. The Plan Trust shall have no responsibility for or liability pertaining to any Entity Asset, except as provided in this Agreement, but shall have the rights and limitation of liability protections that inure to the Plan Trust as the equity owner of such Plan Trust Entity.

(iii) Abandonment of Trust Assets.

From time to time on and after the Effective Date, the Plan Trust or a Plan Trust Entity may, with the approval of the Advisory Committee, abandon any Trust Asset or Entity Asset (including any Retained Asset as to which it has beneficial ownership) to the Debtor that formerly owned such Asset, so that such Debtor has legal and beneficial title thereto. Further, the Trustee may cause any Debtor to create an Entity to own and hold such asset. All the benefits of ownership and liabilities with respect to such asset shall transfer to such Debtor or Entity. The Plan Trust shall have no responsibility for or liability pertaining to any asset owned by any Debtor or any Entity created by any Debtor.

- 3. <u>Transfer is Subject to Liabilities</u>. The Assets of each Debtor as to which legal or beneficial title is transferred to the Plan Trust or any Plan Trust Entity are hereby transferred subject to the following liabilities, if any, which arise out of or relate to any known or unknown Claim against the respective Debtors or their Estates (such liabilities with respect to each Debtor, the "<u>Liabilities</u>" of such Debtor):
 - i. Allowed Administrative Claims, Allowed Priority Tax Claims, and Allowed Priority Claims that have not been paid as of the Effective Date or that are subsequently Allowed;
 - ii. all U.S. Trustee fees until such time as the Bankruptcy Court enters a final decree closing each Debtor's respective Chapter 11 Case; and
 - iii. any obligations owing to Secured Creditors under the Plan or the Confirmation Order; but
 - iv. <u>excluding</u>, <u>however</u>, any Claims that have been barred by, or satisfied under, the Plan.
- 4. <u>Plan Distributions and Reserves</u>. The Plan Trust is hereby deemed vested with title to the Trust Assets on the Effective Date, prior to the payment of any Claims to be made under the Plan on the Effective Date. Thus, the Trustee shall distribute from the Trust Assets all Distributions provided for in the Plan, including those to be paid on the Plan's Effective Date, as described

2182597v18 - 4 -

below in Section VI. As further provided in Section VI, the Trustee shall also establish (1) an Administrative and Priority Claims Reserve to facilitate the payment of Liabilities, (2) a Plan Trust Operating Expense Reserve to ensure that the Plan Trust has adequate capital to permit the Plan Trust to liquidate the Trust Assets, to permit any Plan Trust Entity to liquidate its Entity Assets, and to permit any Debtor to liquidate its Retained Assets, and (3) a Disputed Claims Reserve to preserve, for the benefit of Beneficiaries whose claims are not Allowed on the Effective Date, their respective Pro Rata share of Net Distributable Assets of the Trust.

- **C. Purpose.** The Plan Trust shall be established for the primary purpose of liquidating and distributing the Trust Assets with no objective to continue or engage in the conduct of a trade or business, except to the extent reasonably necessary to, and consistent with, the liquidation purpose of the Plan Trust.
- D. **Beneficiaries Deemed Grantors of Plan Trust.** The Plan Trust is intended to qualify as a grantor trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes and shall be structured with the intention of complying with Revenue Procedure 94-45, 1994-C.B. 584, which sets forth the general criteria for obtaining an IRS ruling as to the grantor trust status of a liquidating trust under a chapter 11 plan. The Debtor, the Plan Trust and the Beneficiaries, for all U.S. federal income tax purposes, will treat the Trust Assets as having been transferred by the Debtor to the Beneficiaries pursuant to the Plan Trust, followed by a contribution of such Trust Assets by the Beneficiaries to the Plan Trust, with the intention that the Plan Trust will be treated as a grantor trust and the Beneficiaries will be treated as grantors and owners. Assuming the Plan Trust is treated as a liquidating trust, the holders of beneficial interests in the Plan Trust (each such interest, a "Beneficial Interest") should be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as the direct owners of an undivided interest in the Trust Assets. For purposes of this Section II.D, the deemed transfer of Trust Assets for U.S. income tax purposes to the holders of beneficial interests in the Plan Trust shall not be reduced by the Liabilities described in Section II.B.3 (excluding amounts owed to Holders of Allowed Administrative Claims, Holders of Allowed Priority Tax Claims, Holders of Allowed Priority Claims, Holders of Allowed Secured Claims, and U.S. Trustee fees) and the Holders of such Liabilities (excluding amounts owed to Holders of Allowed Administrative Claims, Holders of Allowed Priority Tax Claims, Holders of Allowed Priority Claims, Holders of Allowed Secured Claims, and U.S. Trustee fees) would be treated as beneficial owners in the Plan Trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
- **E. Documentation of Trust Assets.** Each Debtor shall, on or prior to the Effective Date, execute such documents as shall be reasonably required to evidence the transfer to the Plan Trust or any Plan Trust Entity on behalf of the Beneficiaries effective as of the Effective Date (in accordance with Section B.1 and B.2 of this Article II) any and all of such Debtor's real and personal property (other than legal title to any Retained Assets) to form the Trust Assets or the Entity Assets. The Debtors shall have no further obligation to provide any funding with respect to the Plan Trust, except for the transfer of proceeds from any liquidation of any Retained Assets as provided in Section II.B.2.
- **F. Initial Valuation of Trust Assets.** As soon as practicable after the Effective Date, the Trustee shall apprise each of the Beneficiaries in writing of the value of the Trust Assets by

2182597v18 - 5 -

filing such valuation with the Bankruptcy Court. The valuation shall be used consistently by all parties (including the Debtors, the Trustee and the Beneficiaries) for all federal income tax purposes. The Trustee may, if it so chooses in its sole discretion, determine the value of the Trust Assets based upon its own good-faith determination, or may seek a judicial valuation of the Trust Assets as of the Effective Date by the Bankruptcy Court. Such valuation shall include the value of the Plan Trust's equity in any Plan Trust Entity and the Plan Trust's beneficial ownership of any Retained Assets.

G. Termination. The Plan Trust shall terminate after the Distribution of all Trust Assets and the full performance of all other duties and functions of the Trustee under the Plan and this Agreement, or as otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Plan Trust shall terminate no later than the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date; provided, however, the Bankruptcy Court, upon motion by a party in interest, may extend the term of the Plan Trust for a finite period if it is necessary to the liquidating purpose thereof. Multiple extensions can be obtained. Any extension shall be obtained within the six (6) month period prior to the fifth (5th) anniversary or the end of the immediately preceding extension, as applicable.

SECTION III TRUSTEE

- A. Trustee is a Fiduciary. The Trustee's powers are exercisable solely in a fiduciary capacity consistent with, and in furtherance of, the purposes of the Plan Trust. The Trustee may deal with the Trust Assets, Entity Assets or Retained Assets, as permitted by the provisions hereof. The Trustee shall have the authority to bind the Plan Trust and for all purposes hereunder shall be acting in the capacity as Trustee and not individually. All Distributions made by the Trustee on behalf of a Creditor of a Debtor shall be made by the Trustee solely in its capacity as disbursing agent for such Creditor and, to the extent required by law or otherwise, shall be reported for U.S. income tax purposes as Distributions from this Plan Trust or, if applicable, from any "disputed ownership fund" or "qualified settlement fund" created by the Trustee under this Agreement. Such Distributions shall include, but not be limited to, payments of Cash to be made to Holders of Allowed Trade Claims pursuant to any of the Bayview Settlement Agreement, the FDIC Settlement Agreement, the Freddie Mac Settlement Agreement, the Natixis Settlement Agreement, the Sovereign Settlement Agreement, and any other settlement agreement to which any Debtor or the Plan Trust is or becomes a party.
- **B.** Scope of Authority. The Trustee is authorized to perform any and all acts necessary or desirable to accomplish the purposes of the Plan, subject to the terms of this Agreement. The Trustee shall in an expeditious but orderly manner liquidate and convert to Cash the Trust Assets, the Entity Assets and the Retained Assets, make Distributions and not unduly prolong the duration of the Plan Trust. In so doing, the Trustee shall exercise its reasonable business judgment in liquidating the Trust Assets. Without any further Bankruptcy Court approval (except as specifically required herein) and without the approval of the Advisory Committee (except as to Material Decisions), and subject in all respects to the other terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Trustee shall have the power to take the following actions:
 - (1) by any means permitted by law, liquidate the Trust Assets, cause any Plan Trust Entity to liquidate its Entity Assets, and cause any Debtor to liquidate

2182597v18 - 6 -

- its Retained Assets, including, without limitation, the sale of such assets and the prosecution or settlement of Causes of Action;
- (2) handle the prosecution or settlement of objections to and estimations of Claims;
- (3) calculate and implement all Distributions in accordance with the Plan; whether to be made on or after the Effective Date of the Plan;
- (4) manage the wind-down of the Debtor's operations, if any, including filing tax returns of the Debtors (including the filing of final tax returns and the payment of any taxes shown thereon, and the right to request an expedited determination under § 505 of the Bankruptcy Code), settling or satisfying Administrative Claims, Priority Tax Claims, and Priority Claims, and completing any sales of Assets that were not completed as of the Effective Date (including on behalf of any Debtor any sale of Retained Assets);
- (5) liquidate or otherwise dispose of collateral that secures any Allowed Secured Claim, and remit any proceeds of such disposition in accordance with the priority set forth in Section VI.D. of this Agreement;
- (6) file pleadings and papers and seek relief before the Bankruptcy Court or other courts of competent jurisdiction, where appropriate;
- (7) hold legal or beneficial title to the Trust Assets;
- (8) protect and enforce the rights to the Trust Assets vested in the Trustee by this Agreement by any method deemed appropriate including, without limitation, by judicial proceedings or pursuant to any applicable law and general principles of equity;
- (9) file, prosecute, settle, compromise, withdraw, litigate to judgment, adjust, arbitrate, sue on or defend, abandon, or otherwise deal with Causes of Action and any other Claims in favor of or against the Plan Trust as the Trustee shall deem advisable;
- (10) establish, maintain and terminate accounts at banks and other financial institutions, in a clearly specified fiduciary capacity, in which the Trust Assets or other Cash and property of the Plan Trust may be deposited, and draw checks or make withdrawals from such accounts on the sole signature of the Trustee;
- (11) execute any document or pleading, and file any pleading, incidental to the exercise of any of the Trustee's powers granted herein (whether relating to the Trust Assets, any Entity Assets or any Retained Assets), including the exercise of the Debtors' or the Creditors Committee's respective rights as such rights existed prior to the Effective Date to conduct discovery and oral

2182597v18 - 7 -

- examinations of any party under Rule 2004 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure;
- (12) determine and satisfy any and all liabilities created, incurred or assumed by the Plan Trust;
- (13) pay all fees and expenses, and make all other payments relating to, the administration, management, maintenance, operation, preservation or liquidation of the Trust Assets by the Plan Trust, cause any Plan Trust Entity to do so with respect to its Entity Assets, and cause any Debtor to do so with respect to its Retained Assets, or relating to the pursuit of Causes of Action, and pay all U.S. Trustee Fees;
- (14) file or cause to be filed, if necessary, any and all tax and information returns with respect to any Debtor, the Plan Trust or any Plan Trust Entity, and pay or cause to be paid taxes properly payable by any Debtor, the Plan Trust or any Plan Trust Entity, if any;
- obtain insurance coverage with respect to the liabilities and obligations of the Trustee and the Plan Trust (including as an officer, director, manager, shareholder or member of any Plan Trust Entity or Debtor), in the form of an errors and omissions policy, fiduciary policy or otherwise; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, the Plan Trust is a successor of the Debtor for the purposes of continuing to receive benefits under insurance policies entered into by the Debtor;
- (16) obtain or cause to be obtained insurance coverage with respect to real and personal property which is or may become Trust Assets, Retained Assets or Entity Assets;
- dissolve any Entity (including any Debtor or Plan Trust Entity), terminate joint ventures, and otherwise wind up any Entity;
- (18) create any Entity (referred to as a Plan Trust Entity) for the purpose of holding or managing Entity Assets, or in connection with the sale or other disposition thereof or for any other purpose, and exercise on behalf of such Plan Trust Entity all the corporate or limited liability company or other powers available to such Plan Trust Entity under applicable law, and cause such Plan Trust Entity to dividend, as a return on capital, the net proceeds from the sale of Entity Assets, all such powers to be exercised in a manner that is consistent with the other provisions of this Agreement;
- (19) execute rights of setoff against any and all Claims, rights and Causes of Action of any nature that the Trustee may at any time hold against such Holder; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that neither the failure to effect such a setoff nor the allowance of any Claim under or in accordance with the Plan shall constitute a waiver or release by the Trustee of any such Claim, right or

2182597v18 - 8 -

- Cause of Action that the Trustee may at any time possess against such Holder;
- (20) retain and pay, or cause to be retained and paid, law firms to aid the Trustee in the prosecution of any Causes of Action that constitute Trust Assets or Entity Assets, and to perform such other functions as may be appropriate, including advising or assisting the Trustee in the discharge of its duty as Trustee. The Trustee may commit the Plan Trust to and shall pay such law firms' reasonable compensation for services rendered and expenses incurred. A law firm shall not be disqualified because it was counsel to the Debtors or the Creditors' Committee or its members or continues to serve as counsel to the Debtors;
- (21) retain and pay, or cause to be retained and paid, public accounting firms to perform such reviews and/or audits of the financial books and records of the Plan Trust and any Plan Trust Entity, and to prepare and file any tax returns or informational returns for the Plan Trust and any Plan Trust Entity, or to consult on matters impacting the Plan Trust or any Plan Trust Entity. The Trustee may commit the Plan Trust to pay, and shall cause any Plan Trust Entity to pay, any such accounting firm's reasonable compensation for services rendered and expenses incurred;
- retain and pay such other third parties as necessary or appropriate to assist the Trustee in carrying out its powers and duties under this Agreement. The Trustee may commit the Plan Trust to pay, and shall cause any Plan Trust Entity to pay, all such persons or entities reasonable compensation for services rendered and expenses incurred;
- (23) employ employees to assist the Trustee in carrying out its powers and duties under this Agreement. The Trustee shall pay all such employees reasonable salaries in the amounts it shall determine are appropriate. If the Trustee employs employees, it shall establish payroll procedures and pay any and all federal, state or local tax withholding required under applicable law with respect to such employees, obtain workers' compensation insurance, and take all other actions it deems necessary
- invest any moneys held as part of the Trust Assets in accordance with the terms of Section III.F.2 hereof;
- (25) represent the interests of the Beneficiaries with respect to any matters relating to the Plan, this Agreement, the Plan Trust, or any Plan Trust Entity affecting the rights of such Beneficiaries; and engage in any transaction necessary or appropriate to the foregoing or to facilitate implementation of the Plan and the Confirmation Order, including but not limited to, entering into, performing and exercising rights under contracts and leases on behalf of the Plan Trust or any Plan Trust Entity;

2182597v18 - 9 -

- (26) act as disbursing agent for the FDIC to pay the Trade Creditor Recovery to the Trade Creditors from the FDIC Carve-out pursuant to the FDIC Settlement Agreement, and to otherwise perform all duties and enforce all rights of the Trustee or TBW under the FDIC Settlement Agreement;
- (27) act as disbursing agent for the FDIC to disburse the BB&T Funds to (i) borrowers harmed by TBW and Colonial Bank as a result of TBW's insolvency or (ii) investors that funded loans that did not close, as more particularly described in Section 1.7(d) of the FDIC Settlement Agreement;
- act as disbursing agent to disburse the Additional Trade Creditor Recovery and any other payments or distributions to be made to Holders of Allowed Trade Claims or other Claims pursuant to the Bayview Settlement Agreement, the Freddie Mac Settlement Agreement, the Natixis Settlement Agreement, the Sovereign Settlement Agreement, and any other settlement agreement to which any Debtor or the Plan Trust is or becomes a party;
- (29) serve as a director, officer or manager of TBW and any of its subsidiaries, with the power to appoint and remove any director, officer or manager of TBW and any of its subsidiaries, and in such capacities act as the Trustee deems appropriate with respect to any and all matters impacting TBW or any of its subsidiaries after the Effective Date, all as determined by the Trustee and in accordance with this Agreement; and
- (30) assume such other responsibilities and powers as may be vested in the Trustee (in it capacity as such or in its capacity as an officer, director, manager, shareholder or member of any Plan Trust Entity) pursuant to the Plan or Bankruptcy Court Order or not inconsistent therewith, or as may be necessary and proper to carry out the provisions of the Plan.
- C. Power to Declare Disputed Ownership Funds. The Trustee shall be permitted to make the election described in § 1.468B-9(c)(2)(ii) of the Treasury Regulations to treat any portion of the Plan Trust subject to Disputed Claims as a "disputed ownership fund." The Trustee may establish one or more disputed ownership funds with respect to Disputed Claims. The Trustee may also, to the extent permitted by law, make such an election for state and local income tax purposes. If the election is made to treat any Disputed Claims as a "disputed ownership fund," then the Plan Trust may (i) allocate taxable income or loss to such Disputed Claims, with respect to any given taxable year (but only for the portion of the taxable year with respect to which such Claims are Disputed), and (ii) distribute Plan Trust Assets from the Disputed Claims Reserve as, when, and to the extent, such Claims that are Disputed cease to be Disputed, whether by virtue of becoming Allowed or otherwise resolved, subject to such approval of the Bankruptcy Court, if any, as may be required. The Beneficiaries will be bound by such election, if made by the Trustee, and, as such, will, for U.S. federal income tax purposes (and, to the extent permitted by law, for state and local income tax purposes), report consistently therewith.
- **D. Power to Establish Qualified Settlement Funds.** The Trustee shall be permitted to establish one or more "qualified settlement funds" within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code

2182597v18 - 10 -

and related Treasury Regulations with respect to any WARN Act Claims, or any other Claims for which a "qualified settlement fund" is required or permitted by law.

shall be obligated to inquire into the authority of the Trustee or a Trust Administrator in connection with the protection, conservation or disposition of Trust Assets or Plan Trust Assets. It is intended that a signed copy of this Agreement serve as adequate proof of the authority of the Trustee to act, if such proof is required for any reason by any third party. If proof of authority of a Trust Administrator is required for any reason by any third party, it is intended that a signed copy of this Agreement, together with a letter signed by the Trustee confirming that such Person is as of a relevant date a Trust Administrator, serve as adequate proof of the authority of a Trust Administrator to act. If proof of authority of a director, officer or manager of TBW or any of its subsidiaries is required for any reason by any third party, it is intended that a signed copy of this Agreement, together with a letter signed by the Trustee confirming that such Person is as of a relevant date a director, officer or manager of such entity, serve as adequate proof of the authority of such Person to act.

F. Limitations on Trustee's Authority; Permitted Investments.

- 1. No Trade or Business. The Trustee shall not and shall not be authorized to engage in any trade or business with respect to the Trust Assets (and shall not allow any Plan Trust Entity to do so with respect to Entity Assets) or any proceeds therefrom, except to the extent reasonably necessary to, and consistent with, the liquidating purpose of the Plan Trust within the meaning of Treasury Regulation § 301.7701-4(d). The Trustee shall take such actions consistent with the orderly liquidation of the Trust Assets and the Entity Assets as required by applicable law and consistent with the treatment of the Plan Trust as a liquidating trust under Treasury Regulation § 301.7701-4(d).
- 2. Permitted Investments. The Trustee is authorized to invest Trust Assets only in investments (a) that are consistent with the provisions of § 345 of the Bankruptcy Code unless ordered otherwise by the Bankruptcy Court and (b) that a liquidating trust within the meaning of Treasury Regulation § 301.7701-4(d) may be permitted to hold, pursuant to the Treasury Regulations, whether set forth in IRS rulings, notices, guidelines or other IRS pronouncements. Subject to the foregoing, investments of Trust Assets (i) shall be administered in view of the manner in which individuals of ordinary prudence, discretion and judgment would act in the management of their own affairs and (ii) shall be limited to demand and time deposits, such as certificates of deposit, having maturities of not more than one year, and U.S. Treasury bills or other temporary liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of Cash. The Trustee shall have no liability for interest or producing income on any moneys received by the Plan Trust hereunder, and held for Distribution or payment to the Beneficiaries, except for interest income actually received by the Trustee. The Trustee shall have no liability for any investment of Trust Assets which is approved by the Advisory Committee or the Bankruptcy Court. The Trustee shall cause any

2182597v18 - 11 -

- Plan Trust Entity to comply with this paragraph as regards any Entity Assets comprised of Cash.
- 3. <u>Advisory Committee</u>. The Trustee must obtain the approval of the Advisory Committee regarding all Material Decisions, as described in Section V.D. Further, the Advisory Committee, and not the Trustee, shall have the sole power to make any Unanimous Decision, as described in Section V.E.
- 4. <u>No Investment Company</u>. The Trustee shall not take any action that would result in the Plan Trust becoming subject to registration as an "investment company" pursuant to the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
- 5. No Commingling. All moneys and other Assets received by the Plan Trust shall, until distributed or paid over as herein provided, be held in trust for the benefit of the Beneficiaries, but need not be segregated from other Trust Assets, unless and to the extent required by law or by the Plan. The Trustee shall not commingle any of the Trust Assets with its own property or the property of any other Person. The Trustee shall cause any Plan Trust Entity to comply with this paragraph as regards any Entity Assets comprised of Cash.

G. Reliance by Trustee.

- 1. The Trustee, and the Trustee's agents (including any Trust Administrator), may rely upon, and shall be protected in acting upon, any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, or other paper or document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.
- 2. The Trustee, and the Trustee's agents (including any Trust Administrator), may consult with legal counsel, financial or accounting advisors, and other professionals to be selected by the Trustee, and neither the Trustee nor such agent shall not be liable for any action taken or omitted to be taken by it in accordance with the advice thereof.
- 3. Persons dealing with the Trustee or any of the Trustee's agents (including any Trust Administrator) shall look only to the Trust Assets to satisfy any liability incurred by the Trustee or the Plan Trust to such Person in carrying out the terms of this Agreement. The Trustee shall have no personal obligation to satisfy any such liability, except to the extent such liability or obligation is determined by a Final Order to have resulted primarily and directly from the Trustee's gross negligence or willful misconduct.
- **H.** Authorization to Expend Trust Assets. The Trustee may incur reasonable and necessary expenses in liquidating and converting to Cash the Trust Assets, any Plan Trust Entity's Entity Assets, and any Debtor's interest in Retained Assets. Such expenses shall be payable from the corpus of the Plan Trust with a priority that is senior to Distributions to Beneficiaries. Without limiting the foregoing, the Trustee may expend the Trust Assets (i) to pay fees and expenses of

2182597v18 - 12 -

administration of the Plan Trust to perform the Trustee's obligations under this Agreement, or to cause any Plan Trust Entity or Debtor to liquidate its asset for the benefit of this Plan Trust (including, but not limited to, the fees and expenses of the Trustee, expenses of the Advisory Committee members and fees and expenses of their respective counsel, any taxes imposed on the Plan Trust or in respect of the Trust Assets, and fees and expenses in connection with litigation), and (ii) to satisfy other liabilities incurred or assumed by the Plan Trust or to which the Trust Assets or Entity Assets are otherwise subject under the Plan in accordance with this Agreement, the Plan or the Confirmation Order. With respect to any Entity Assets, the Trustee may expend Trust Assets to cause any Plan Trust Entity to monetize its Entity Assets, and to maintain such assets until they are sold and the proceeds remitted to the Plan Trust. With respect to any Retained Assets, the Trustee may expend Trust Assets to cause any Debtor to monetize the Retained Assets to which such Debtor has legal title, and to maintain such assets until they are sold and the proceeds remitted to the Plan Trust. The Trustee shall not need the approval of the Bankruptcy Court to make any payment that the Trustee is authorized to make under this Agreement.

- I. Trust Administrator. The Trustee may appoint one or more Persons to serve with the designation of Trust Administrators for the Plan Trust (each, a "<u>Trust Administrator</u>"). A Trust Administrator shall serve at the discretion of the Trustee. The appointment or removal of a Trust Administrator shall be set forth in a letter or other notice of appointment or removal, addressed to such Person and signed by the Trustee, and shall be effective on the date stated in such notice. It shall be the duty of any Trust Administrator to assist the Trustee in the performance of the Trustee's routine and administrative duties under this Agreement. In furtherance of the foregoing, a Trust Administrator shall have the authority to take any of the following actions, in the name of or on behalf of the Plan Trust or any Estate of any Debtor:
 - 1. handle all matters relating to the administration of mortgage loans or other Trust Assets owned by the Plan Trust, including without limitation the execution of documents on behalf of the Plan Trust or the Estate of any Debtor in connection with the amendment, refinancing, payoff or enforcement of any mortgage loan or other Trust Asset;
 - 2. deposit funds into or transfer funds among any of the accounts maintained by the Trust, on the sole signature of the Trust Administrator or its authorized officer;
 - 3. withdraw funds from any general operating account of the Plan Trust, on the sole signature of the Trust Administrator or its authorized officer, to pay routine or ordinary expenses of the Plan Trust;
 - 4. obtain and preserve the Plan Trust's qualification to do business in any jurisdiction in which such qualification is necessary;
 - 5. assist the Trustee in the routine tasks of the Trustee, in its capacity as an officer, director, manager, shareholder or member of any Plan Trust Entity or Debtor, and handle all of the matters described in paragraphs 1. through 4 above, but with respect to the Retained Assets or the Entity Assets, as applicable; and

2182597v18 - 13 -

6. comply with any written directive of the Trustee with respect to administrative matters or the routine operations of the Plan Trust.

In no event shall a Trust Administrator have the authority to withdraw funds or assets from any of the Plan Trust's deposit, time, investment or securities accounts, other than (i) if necessary to effect transfers among such accounts or (ii) to withdraw funds from any general operating account of the Plan Trust to pay routine or ordinary expenses of the Plan Trust. All such transfers and withdrawals shall be reflected in the books and records of the Plan Trust.

J. Post Effective Date Management. As provided in the Plan, TBW, HAM and REO may continue to exist after the Effective Date. Thus, after the establishment of the Plan Trust and the appointment of the Trustee, TBW, HAM and REO may continue to act, by and through their directors, officers and managers, to the fullest extent provided under their respective articles, bylaws, limited liability company agreements and other organizational documents, and applicable law.

K. Compensation.

- 1. The Plan Trust shall reimburse the Trustee for the actual reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Trustee, including, without limitation, necessary travel, lodging, postage, telephone and facsimile charges upon receipt of periodic billings.
- 2. Subject to such adjustments as may be agreed to from time to time by the Advisory Committee and the Trustee, the Trustee and employees or agents of the Trustee shall be entitled to receive compensation pursuant to that certain engagement letter attached hereto as Exhibit A for services rendered on behalf of the Plan Trust. Any change in compensation must be agreed to by the Advisory Committee and the Trustee, and further Order of the Bankruptcy Court is not required.
- 3. The Trust Assets shall be subject to the Claims of the Trustee and agents that the Trustee may engage as described in such engagement letter, and the Trustee shall be entitled, out of any Cash in the Plan Trust, to pay compensation to itself and such agents, and reimburse itself and such agents for all actual out-of-pocket expenses, and satisfy or recover any and all loss, liability, expense, or damage which the Trustee or such agents may incur or sustain in good faith in the exercise and performance of any of the powers and duties of the Trustee.
- 4. All compensation and other amounts payable to the Trustee, for itself or such agents, shall be paid from the Trust Assets. If the Cash in the Plan Trust shall be insufficient to compensate and reimburse the Trustee and such agents, as the case may be, for any amounts to which the Trustee, for itself or its agents, is entitled hereunder, then the Trustee is hereby authorized to reduce to Cash in a commercially reasonable manner that portion of the Trust Assets necessary so as to effect such compensation and reimbursement.

2182597v18 - 14 -

- 5. The Trustee shall not be required to file a fee application to pay any compensation provided for under this Agreement. The Trustee's compensation shall, however, be subject to review and, if appropriate, objection by the Advisory Committee.
- **L. Bond.** If the Bankruptcy Court so orders, the Trustee shall serve with a bond, the costs and expenses of which shall be paid by the Plan Trust.
- **M.** Insurance. The Trustee shall obtain insurance with respect to the liabilities and obligations of the Trustee and the Advisory Committee under this Agreement (in the form of an errors and omissions policy or other appropriate policy), the costs and expenses of which shall be paid by the Plan Trust, unless both the Trustee and the Advisory Committee unanimously agree that such insurance shall not be required.
- **N.** Confidentiality. The Trustee shall, and shall cause its agents and representatives to, hold strictly confidential and not use for personal gain any material, non-public information of or pertaining to any Person or matter to which any of the Trust Assets relates or of which the Trustee has become aware in its capacity as Trustee.
- **O. Final Decree.** It shall be the duty of the Trustee to seek and obtain a final decree or decrees from the Bankruptcy Court upon full administration of the Plan Trust.
- **P. Termination.** The duties, responsibilities and powers of the Trustee shall terminate on the date the Plan Trust is dissolved under applicable law in accordance with the Plan.

SECTION IV BENEFICIARIES

- A. Maintenance of List of Beneficiaries. The Beneficiaries of the Plan Trust are comprised of all Holders of Allowed Claims against the Debtors, whether such Claims are Allowed as of or subsequent to the Effective Date. If a Holder's Disputed Claim is resolved and becomes an Allowed Claim, the Holder shall receive the same percentage recovery as Holders of Allowed Claims in the same Class as if the Holder's Allowed Claim was an Allowed Claim as of the Effective Date of the Plan; provided, however, that post-Effective Date interest shall not be allowed. The Trustee shall maintain a register identifying the record Holders of Beneficial Interests in the Trust. All references to Beneficiaries shall mean Beneficiaries of record as set forth in the official register maintained by the Trustee and the term shall not mean any Holder of an Allowed Claim that is not recorded as a Beneficiary in such official registry.
- **B.** Identification of Beneficiaries. In order to determine the actual names, addresses and tax identification numbers of the Beneficiaries with respect to any Debtor, the Trustee shall be entitled to conclusively rely on the names, addresses and tax identification numbers set forth in (1) such Debtor's Schedules, (2) such Debtor's Claims Register, or (3) the Proofs of Claim filed against such Debtor with the Bankruptcy Court. Each Beneficiary's right to any Distribution from the Plan Trust, which is dependent upon such Beneficiary's classification under the Plan, shall be that accorded to such Beneficiary under the Plan. Each Distribution by the Trustee to the Beneficiaries

2182597v18 - 15 -

shall be made in accordance with the terms set forth herein. The Trustee may establish a record date that it deems practicable for determining the Beneficiaries for a particular purpose.

- **C. Withholding.** Unless otherwise permitted to be paid directly to a Beneficiary, the Trustee shall withhold from the amounts distributable to the Beneficiaries from the Trust Assets at any time such sum or sums as may be required to be withheld under the income tax laws of the United States or of any state or political subdivision thereof.
- **D.** Tax Identification Numbers. The Trustee shall require any Beneficiary to furnish to the Trustee its Employer or Taxpayer Identification Number as assigned by the IRS, and the Trustee may condition any Distribution to any Beneficiary upon receipt of such identification number. For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee may request Bankruptcy Court authority to release funds set aside for Distribution to Beneficiaries who have not provided proper tax identification numbers and make those funds available to the remaining Beneficiaries.

SECTION V ADVISORY COMMITTEE

- A. Duties and Powers. The Advisory Committee³ is established pursuant to the terms of the Plan and shall function consistent with the Plan and this Agreement. The Advisory Committee shall represent the interests of the Holders of Beneficial Interests during the existence of the Plan Trust, and shall have the obligation to undertake in good faith each of the acts and responsibilities set forth for the Advisory Committee in this Agreement or in the Plan for the benefit of the Beneficiaries. The Advisory Committee shall begin to act on the Effective Date and shall oversee the actions of the Trustee in accordance with the terms of the Plan Trust Agreement until further Order of the Bankruptcy Court.
- B. Advisory Committee Members. The Advisory Committee shall be appointed by the Creditors' Committee and identified in the Plan Supplement, and the Confirmation Order shall confirm the appointment of the initial Advisory Committee. The Advisory Committee shall consist of three (3) members. The initial three members shall be from the members of the Creditors' Committee. In the event that less than three (3) of the members of the Creditors' Committee notify counsel to the Creditors' Committee of their intent to serve on the Advisory Committee within fifteen (15) days prior to the Confirmation Hearing, then the Creditors' Committee will either (i) choose from among the Holders of Unsecured Claims to fill any vacancy until three (3) members of such designation have been selected or (ii) elect not to fill the vacancy. In the event of the resignation of a member of the Advisory Committee, the remaining members may, but need not, designate a successor from among the Holders of Unsecured Claims. Unless and until any such vacancy is filled, the Advisory Committee shall function with such reduced membership.
- C. Advisory Committee is a Fiduciary. The fiduciary duties that applied to the Creditors' Committee prior to the Effective Date, as limited by the exculpations, indemnifications, releases and other protections provided in the Plan, this Agreement, and the Confirmation Order,

2182597v18 - 16 -

٠

As used in this Agreement, the term "Advisory Committee" shall have the same meaning as the term "Plan Advisory Committee" used in the Plan.

shall apply to the Advisory Committee. The duties, rights and powers of the Advisory Committee shall terminate upon the termination of the Plan Trust.

- **D.** Material Decisions. The Trustee shall consult with the Advisory Committee generally and shall obtain the consent or approval of the Advisory Committee before making any of the following decisions (each, a "Material Decision") which may, where indicated below, be obtained by Notice Approval (as defined below):
 - 1. the Trustee's commencement of the prosecution of (i) any Cause of Action in which the amount sought to be recovered (a) is greater than \$1 million and less than or equal to \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may be obtained by Notice Approval, or (b) exceeds \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may not be obtained by Notice Approval, and (ii) any objection to a Claim having a stated amount (a) greater than \$1 million and less than or equal to \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may be obtained by Notice Approval or (b) greater than \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may not be obtained by Notice Approval;
 - 2. the Trustee's determination not to object to a Claim having a stated amount (i) in excess of \$1 million and less than or equal to \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may be obtained by Notice Approval, or (ii) in excess of \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may not be obtained by Notice Approval;
 - 3. the settlement of (i) any Cause of Action in which the amount sought to be recovered (a) is greater than \$1 million and less than or equal to \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may be obtained by Notice Approval, or (b) exceeds \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may not be obtained by Notice Approval and (ii) any Disputed Claim having a stated amount (a) greater than \$1 million and less than or equal to \$5 million and to approve any release or indemnification to be given by the Trustee in connection with any such settlement, the approval or consent of which may be obtained by Notice Approval, or (b) in excess of \$5 million and to approve any release or indemnification to be given by the Trustee in connection with any such settlement, the approval or consent of which may not be obtained by Notice Approval;
 - 4. any sale of Trust Assets by the Plan Trust, sale of Entity Assets by a Plan Trust Entity, or sale of Retained Assets by a Debtor for a price in excess of \$500,000, other than a sale of REO; and, provided further, the Trustee may release any individual mortgage loan (including for an amount less than the outstanding unpaid balance of the loan) without the approval of the Advisory Committee;
 - 5. all Distributions proposed by the Trustee;

2182597v18 - 17 -

- 6. the investment of Cash or other Trust Assets, except for investments in demand and time deposits, such as certificates of deposit, having maturities of less than one year and in U.S. Treasury bills;
- 7. the dissolution of any Debtor;
- 8. the waiver of the attorney-client privilege by the Trustee with respect to any Cause of Action or other litigation related matter, as described in Section XI.C of this Agreement;
- 9. the election to treat any portion of the Plan Trust as a "disputed ownership fund" pursuant to § 1.468B-9(c)(2)(ii) of the Treasury Regulations;
- 10. the election described in Article 7.J. of the Plan as regards undeliverable Distributions; and
- 11. the election to abandon any Trust Asset under Section II.B.2(iii).

Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the approval of any Material Decision that the Trustee may obtain by Notice Approval may be obtained in the following manner (such process being referred to herein as "Notice Approval"): The Trustee shall give written notice to the Advisory Committee of any request to approve a Material Decision. The Advisory Committee shall have two (2) Business Days to deliver a response to such request to the Trustee. In the event emergency action is required with respect to any such matter as to which the Trustee is seeking Notice Approval and the Trustee is unable to provide two (2) Business Days' notice as required herein, then, to avoid injury or harm to the Trust Assets or its Beneficiaries, the Trustee may in its written request to approve a Material Decision shorten the notice period (a "Shortened Notice") and shall therein give such notice as may be practicable under the circumstances. If the Trustee does not receive a written objection to such request from a member of the Advisory Committee within the applicable time period as provided herein or in any Shortened Notice, the Trustee shall be deemed to have obtained the approval and consent of such member of the Advisory Committee to the Trustee's request to approve such Material Decision. All requests to approve a Material Decision, including any Shortened Notice, and all responses, if any, shall be given in accordance with Section XI.H of this Agreement, which allows for notice by electronic mail, among other "Business Day" means any day except a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York City are authorized by law to close.

After consulting with the Advisory Committee, the Trustee may also, but is not required to, submit a proposed settlement to a court of competent jurisdiction, including the Bankruptcy Court, for its approval, and may comply with any settlement approved by such court.

If any decision described in paragraphs 1 through 11 above of this Section V.D is to be effectuated by TBW, HAM or REO after the Effective Date of the Plan, rather than effectuated by the Plan Trust or the Trustee, then TBW, HAM or REO, as the case may be, shall obtain the consent or approval of the Advisory Committee, or follow the requirements applicable to the Trustee to obtain Notice Approval, of such decision prior to making such decision, and such decision shall be considered a Material Decision for all purposes under this Agreement.

2182597v18 - 18 -

- **E.** Unanimous Decisions. The Advisory Committee shall have the absolute right and power to determine the following by the unanimous vote of all the members of the Advisory Committee (each, a "<u>Unanimous Decision</u>"):
 - 1. to change the initial bond (if any bond is required by the Bankruptcy Court) to be posted by the Trustee; and
 - 2. to petition the Bankruptcy Court to remove the Trustee for Cause (as such term is defined in Section IX.A below), or to select a successor Trustee when a successor is required hereunder.
- F. Conflicts. If the Trustee in good faith perceives a conflict between a provision of this Agreement and a direction by the Advisory Committee, the Trustee may promptly deliver a notice to the Advisory Committee requesting clarification and proposing a course of action to be taken by the Trustee. If the Trustee does not receive a written response within three (3) Business Days after receipt of such notice by the Advisory Committee, the Trustee may take such actions as it deems advisable and consistent with the terms of the Plan and this Agreement. In the event a response to such notice is timely received and a disagreement among the parties as to the correct course of action persists, the Trustee shall promptly seek resolution of such matter by the Bankruptcy Court. In the event emergency action is required by the Trustee, and the Trustee is unable to provide three (3) Business Days' prior written notice of a conflict, the Trustee is authorized to act notwithstanding the perceived conflict in order to avoid irreparable injury or harm to the Trust Assets and its Beneficiaries and shall give such notice, if any, as may be practicable under the circumstances.
- G. Bylaws and Voting; Selection of Chair; Execution of Documents. The members of the Advisory Committee may adopt bylaws. A majority of the members of the Advisory Committee shall constitute a quorum. Except with regard to a Unanimous Decision, a majority vote is required for the Advisory Committee to act on matters before it. In the case of a tie vote, including a tie vote on any Material Decision, the vote of the Trustee shall be taken to break the tie. The Advisory Committee may meet and vote in person or telephonically, and each member shall be entitled to receive reasonable notice of any such meeting. The members of the Advisory Committee shall select a Chair, and the Chair shall be authorized to execute any document and give any notice provided for herein on behalf of the Advisory Committee.
- **H. Reporting.** The Trustee shall submit such reports as it deems reasonable to the Advisory Committee (but at a minimum quarterly), including, without limitation, reports on the commencement and prosecution of Causes of Action and the proceeds of liquidation of the Trust Assets. The Trustee shall also report to the Advisory Committee, at the request of any member of the Advisory Committee, on any matter that reasonably relates to the Trust Assets; <u>provided, however,</u> that in providing such reports the Trustee shall not take any action that will in any way infringe on the attorney-client privilege or jeopardize the viability of on-going litigation by reporting on Causes of Action directly or indirectly to any interested parties that may be on the Advisory Committee.
- I. No Compensation; Reimbursement of Committee Members. The members of the Advisory Committee shall serve without compensation, except for reimbursement of fees and

2182597v18 - 19 -

expenses as provided for in the Plan and this Agreement. The Plan Trust shall reimburse each member of the Advisory Committee for its respective reasonable and documented expenses, including out-of-pocket expenses relating to airfare, hotel, meals and other travel costs, and postage, telephone and facsimile charges, for work performed on behalf of or relating to the administration of the Plan Trust or the Advisory Committee, and other necessary expenses. Reimbursement shall include expenses incurred for fees and expenses of counsel to any member of the Advisory Committee in assisting such member to perform its duties hereunder. Reimbursement for fees and expenses of each Advisory Committee member and its counsel shall be subject to a cap to be determined jointly by the Advisory Committee and the Trustee. All amounts payable pursuant to this paragraph shall be paid from the Trust Assets. If the Cash in the Plan Trust shall be insufficient to effect such reimbursement, then the Trustee is hereby authorized to reduce to Cash in a commercially reasonable manner that portion of the Trust Assets necessary to effect such reimbursement. The members of the Advisory Committee shall not receive fees or compensation from the Plan Trust for their service as members thereof. The Advisory Committee shall not retain counsel for the Advisory Committee at the expense of the Plan Trust, unless pursuant to an Order of the Bankruptcy Court for cause shown.

- J. Objection to Fees. The Advisory Committee shall have the right, within 7 days from the delivery of a fee statement, to object to the fees of any professional retained by either the Plan Trust or the Advisory Committee. The objection shall be lodged by giving notice of any such objection to the professional seeking compensation or reimbursement. For an objection to be valid, it shall be in writing and set forth in detail the specific fees objected to and the basis for the objection. Any objection that remains unresolved 15 days after it is made may be submitted to the Bankruptcy Court for resolution. The uncontested portion of each invoice shall be paid within 20 days after its delivery to the Advisory Committee and the Trustee.
- **K. Termination.** The duties, responsibilities and powers of the Advisory Committee shall terminate on the date the Plan Trust is dissolved under applicable law in accordance with the Plan.

SECTION VI DISTRIBUTIONS

- **A. Application of Trust Assets.** The Trustee shall apply Trust Assets only in accordance with this Agreement and the Plan.
- **B.** Distributions. The Trustee shall make Distributions in accordance with Article 7 of the Plan. The Trustee may hold back from any interim Distributions made under the Plan amounts credited to Reserves.
- C. Reserves Established by Trustee. The Trustee shall maintain the Plan Trust Operating Expense Reserve, the Administrative and Priority Claims Reserve, and the Disputed Claims Reserve, as provided for in Article 7.C of the Plan. The Trustee may decrease the amount of any Reserve established for any Estate, and may allocate Plan Trust expenses among the Estates and the various Reserves established for the Estates of the Debtors, as the Trustee determines is appropriate; provided, however, the Trustee shall not decrease the amount allocated to the Administrative and Priority Claims Reserve or any Disputed Claims Reserve without seeking

2182597v18 - 20 -

approval of the Bankruptcy Court and in connection therewith, providing notice of any applicable proceedings in the Bankruptcy Court (i) in connection with any proceeding seeking to reduce the amounts allocated to the Administrative and Priority Claim Reserve, to all parties holding an Administrative or Priority Claim, and (ii) in connection with any proceeding seeking to reduce the amounts allocated to any Disputed Clams Reserve of any Estate, to all parties holding a Disputed Claim against such Estate.

- **D. Priorities**. Cash available for distribution pursuant to Paragraph B of this Section VI with respect to each Debtor's Estate shall be paid in accordance with the priorities provided for in Article 7.E of the Plan.
- **E.** *De Minimis* **Distributions.** All *De Minimis* Distributions shall be administered as provided for in Article 7.H of the Plan.
- **F.** Undeliverable Distributions. Any undeliverable Distributions shall be administered as provided for in Article 7.J of the Plan.
- **G.** Compliance with Laws. Any and all Distributions made by the Trustee shall be in compliance with applicable laws, including, but not limited to, applicable tax, federal and state securities laws.

SECTION VII REPORTS, TAX MATTERS, BOOKS AND RECORDS

- **A. Initial Valuation.** The Trustee shall file with the Bankruptcy Court as soon as practicable after the Effective Date an initial valuation of the Trust Assets, as more particularly described in Section II.F of this Agreement.
- **B.** Annual Financial Statements and Statement to Beneficiaries. As soon as practicable after the end of each calendar year and as soon as practicable upon termination of the Plan Trust, the Trustee shall (i) submit to the Bankruptcy Court and the Advisory Committee financial statements of the Plan Trust at the end of such calendar year or period and the receipts and disbursements of the Plan Trust for such period, and (ii) subject to Section VII.D, mail to each Beneficiary a separate statement for each Beneficiary setting forth such Beneficiary's share of items of income, gain, loss, deduction or credit and advise all such Beneficiaries to report such items on their federal and state income tax returns, except as otherwise provided for U.S. federal income tax purposes in the event that the Trustee timely elects to treat any portion of the Plan Trust as a "disputed ownership fund" pursuant to § 1.468B-9(c)(2)(ii) of the Treasury Regulations.
- C. Quarterly Filings with Bankruptcy Court and U.S. Trustee. From the Effective Date until a Final Decree is entered, the Trustee shall, within 45 days of the end of each calendar quarter, file with the Bankruptcy Court and submit to the U.S. Trustee quarterly reports setting forth all receipts and disbursements of the Plan Trust as required by the U.S. Trustee guidelines.
- **D. Federal Income Tax.** Except to the extent that any portion of the Plan Trust is treated as a "disputed ownership fund" or a "qualified settlement fund" for U.S. federal income tax consequences, the following shall apply:

2182597v18 - 21 -

- 1. <u>Tax Reporting</u>. Subject to definitive guidance from the IRS or a court of competent jurisdiction to the contrary (including the issuance of applicable Treasury Regulations, the receipt by the Trustee of a private letter ruling if the Trustee so requests one, or the receipt of an adverse determination by the IRS upon audit if not contested by the Trustee), the Trustee shall file returns for the Plan Trust as a grantor trust pursuant to Treasury Regulation § 1.671-4(a).
- 2. <u>Allocations of Plan Trust Taxable Income</u>. Items of income, gain, loss, expense, and other tax items will be allocated to those Beneficiaries that would be entitled to receive such items if they constituted Cash distributions or reductions therefrom, and such Beneficiaries shall be responsible for the payment of taxes on a current basis that result from such allocations.
- **E.** Other Filings. The Trustee shall also file (or cause to be filed) any other statements, returns or disclosures relating to the Plan Trust that are required to be filed under applicable law, guidelines, rules and regulations of any Governmental Authority.
- F. Disputed Ownership Fund Tax Effect. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in the event that the Trustee timely elects to treat any portion of the Plan Trust subject to Disputed Claims as a "disputed ownership fund" pursuant to § 1.468B-9(c)(2)(ii) of the Treasury Regulations, any Holders of Claims who, as of the Effective Date, are holders of Disputed Claims shall, to the extent of such Disputed Claims, not be treated as having received any portion of the Assets as to which legal or beneficial title is transferred to the Plan Trust hereunder and shall not be deemed grantors of the Plan Trust to the extent of such Disputed Claims for U.S. federal income tax purposes, but rather shall be subject to U.S. federal income taxation in accordance with rules set forth in Section 468B of the Internal Revenue Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.
- **G. Qualified Settlement Fund Tax Effect.** In the event that any portion of the Pan Trust is treated as a "qualified settlement fund" pursuant to § 1.468B-1 of the Treasury Regulations, the U.S. federal income tax consequences shall be determined in accordance with rules set forth in Section 468B of the Internal Revenue Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.
- H. Books and Records. The Trustee shall maintain books and records relating to the Trust Assets, the income of the Plan Trust, and the payment of expenses of, the liabilities of or assumed by, and the Claims against, the Plan Trust in such detail and for such period of time as may be necessary to enable it to make full and proper accounting in respect thereof in accordance with applicable law. Such books and records shall be maintained on a modified Cash or other comprehensive basis of accounting necessary to facilitate compliance with the tax reporting requirements of the Plan Trust. Except for reports required by this Section VII, nothing in this Agreement requires the Trustee to file any accounting with respect to Trust Assets. Holders of the Beneficial Interests shall have the right upon thirty (30) days' prior written notice delivered to the Trustee to inspect such books and records (including financial statements), subject, however, to the requesting Person entering into a confidentiality agreement, satisfactory in form and substance to the Trustee, prior to such inspection. Nothing in this Agreement provides any Beneficiary with a

2182597v18 - 22 -

right to review, inspect, seek discovery of or otherwise obtain any information that is privileged or subject to a third party's rights of privacy or confidentiality.

SECTION VIII LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

- **Exculpation.** Neither the Trustee nor any member of the Advisory Committee, nor their respective employees, professionals, agents, representatives or designees, including any Trust Administrator, nor any director, officer or manager of TBW or any of its subsidiaries who held such position on or after the Effective Date (each, a "Plan Trust Exculpated Party" and collectively, the "Plan Trust Exculpated Parties"), shall be liable for any Claims, causes of action, liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees and expenses), and other assertions of liability (collectively "Plan Trust Released Claims") arising out of the discharge of the powers and duties conferred upon the Trustee or the Advisory Committee by this Agreement, the Plan or any Order of the Bankruptcy Court, or requested to be performed by the Trustee or any member of the Advisory Committee, other than for Plan Trust Released Claims determined by a Final Order to have arisen or resulted solely from such Plan Trust Exculpated Party's gross negligence or willful misconduct. Any action taken or omitted to be taken with the approval of the Bankruptcy Court or the Advisory Committee will conclusively be deemed not to constitute gross negligence or willful misconduct. With regard to the investment of Trust Assets, no Plan Trust Exculpated Party shall have any liability for any decision regarding the investment of Trust Assets if that investment decision is approved by the Advisory Committee or the Bankruptcy Court. No Holder of a Claim or other Person will have or be permitted to pursue any Claim or cause of action against any Plan Trust Exculpated Party for making or approving, or not making or approving, payments or Distributions in accordance with the Plan or for implementing the provisions of the Plan. The Trustee and the members of the Advisory Committee shall have absolute discretion to pursue or not to pursue any and all Claims, Causes of Action, or other matters, activities or things as it determines is in the best interests of the Beneficiaries using their reasonable business judgment and consistent with the purposes of the Plan Trust, and shall have no liability for the outcome of their decisions, except as provided in this paragraph. The Trustee shall be entitled to enjoy all of the rights, powers, immunities and privileges applicable to a chapter 7 trustee under the Bankruptcy Code and the Advisory Committee shall be entitled to enjoy all of the rights, powers, immunities and privileges of an official committee of unsecured creditors under the Bankruptcy Code. Each of the Trustee and the members of the Advisory Committee, may, in connection with the performance of its respective functions, and in its sole and absolute discretion, consult with its attorneys, accountants, financial advisors and agents, and shall not be liable for any act taken, not taken, or suffered to be done in accordance with advice or opinions rendered by such persons, regardless of whether such advice or opinions are provided in writing. Notwithstanding such authority, neither the Trustee nor any member of the Advisory Committee shall be under any obligation to consult with its attorneys, accountants, financial advisors or agents, and their determination not to do so shall not result in the imposition of liability on the Trustee or such member or any other Plan Trust Exculpated Party, unless such determination is determined by a Final Order to be solely due to such Plan Trust Exculpated Party's gross negligence or willful misconduct.
- **B.** Indemnification. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Plan Trust shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless each Plan Trust Exculpated Party from and against any

2182597v18 - 23 -

and all Plan Trust Released Claims arising out of or resulting from such Plan Trust Exculpated Party's acts or omissions, or consequences of such acts or omissions, with respect to the implementation or administration of the Plan Trust or the Plan or the discharge of its duties hereunder or thereunder, or at the request of the Trustee or any member of the Advisory Committee, including without limitation, relating to any action, suit, proceeding or investigation brought by or threatened against such Plan Trust Exculpated Party; provided, however, that no such indemnification will be made to such Plan Trust Exculpated Party for Plan Trust Released Claims determined by a Final Order to have arisen or resulted solely from such Plan Trust Exculpated Party's gross negligence or willful misconduct. All Plan Trust Released Claims for which indemnity is provided under this Agreement to any Plan Trust Exculpated Party shall be payable on demand from Trust Assets prior to payment to Beneficiaries from Trust Assets. The Trustee may commit the Plan Trust to indemnify any Plan Trust Exculpated Party in accordance with the terms of this Section in any engagement letter or contract that the Trustee may enter into in connection with hiring or retaining such third parties pursuant to this Agreement.

SECTION IX SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE

- A. Removal. The Trustee may be removed by the Bankruptcy Court upon petition made by the Advisory Committee for Cause. For purposes of the removal of the Trustee, "Cause" shall mean any of the following actions or omissions of the Trustee in connection with serving in its capacity as Trustee for the Plan Trust: (i) the commission of an act of fraud, misappropriation, dishonesty, embezzlement, gross negligence or willful misconduct which is materially injurious to the Plan Trust or any Beneficiary; (ii) criminal felony indictment; or (iii) the continuing and/or willful failure to perform the duties or obligations of the Trustee as set forth in this Agreement, if such failure is not cured within fifteen (15) days after written notice from the Advisory Committee.
- **B.** Resignation; Death. The Trustee may resign by giving not less than thirty (30) days' prior written notice thereof to the Bankruptcy Court. Such resignation shall become effective on the later to occur of (i) the date specified in such notice and (ii) the selection of a successor and the acceptance by such successor of such appointment. If the Trustee dies, the Advisory Committee must promptly appoint a successor Trustee.
- C. Acceptance of Appointment by Successor Trustee. Any successor Trustee shall be chosen by the Advisory Committee. In the event of extended delay in the appointment by the Advisory Committee, the Bankruptcy Court shall appoint a successor Trustee. Any successor Trustee appointed hereunder shall execute an instrument accepting such appointment hereunder and shall file such acceptance with the Plan Trust records. If required as a condition to a successor Trustee's appointment, the successor should post a bond or provide evidence of insurance adequate to ensure the performance of the obligations of the successor hereunder. Thereupon, such successor Trustee shall, without any further act, become vested with all the estate's properties, rights, powers, trusts and duties of its predecessor in the Plan Trust with like effect as if originally named herein.
- **D.** Continuation of Plan Trust. The death, resignation or removal of the Trustee shall not operate to terminate the Plan Trust created by this Agreement or revoke any existing agency created pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or invalidate any action taken by the Trustee. The

2182597v18 - 24 -

Trustee agrees that the provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Trustee and the Trustee's successors or assigns. In the event of the resignation or removal of the Trustee, the Trustee shall (if alive and competent) promptly perform each of the following:

- 1. execute and deliver by the effective date of resignation or removal instruments conveying and transferring to such successor Trustee under the Plan Trust all the estates, properties, rights, powers, and trusts of such predecessor Trustee, and such other documents, instruments and other writings as may be reasonably required by the successor Trustee to effect the termination of the resigning or removed Trustee's capacity under this Agreement;
- 2. deliver to the successor Trustee all documents, instruments, records and other writings relating to the Plan Trust as may be in the possession or under the control of the resigning or removed Trustee, and
- 3. assist and cooperate in effecting the assumption of the resigning or removed Trustee's obligations and functions by the successor Trustee.

The resigning or removed Trustee hereby appoints the successor Trustee as its attorney-infact and agent with full power of substitution and in its name, place and stead to do any and all such acts that such resigning or removed Trustee is obligated to perform under this Section. This power of attorney is coupled with an interest and is irrevocable.

SECTION X EVIDENCE OF AND NON-TRANSFERABILITY OF BENEFICIARY'S INTERESTS

- **A.** Beneficial Interests Maintained in Book Entry Form. All Beneficial Interests shall be uncertificated and deemed issued by book entry only, in the register maintained by the Trustee.
- **B.** Non-Transferability of Beneficial Interests. Subject to Section X.C below, the Beneficial Interests are non-transferable. Any purported assignment, pledge, mortgage, sale, transfer or other disposition other than as permitted by Section X.C below shall be void and will not be registered on the register maintained by the Trustee.
- C. Limited Exception to Non-Transferability of Beneficial Interests. The Beneficial Interests of any Beneficiary in the Plan Trust are not transferable except after written notice to the Trustee *only*: (i) pursuant to applicable laws of descent and Distribution (as in the case of a deceased individual Beneficiary); (ii) by operation of law (as in the case of a merger of a Beneficiary that is an entity); or (iii) pursuant to any applicable rights of the Federal Housing Finance Agency under the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 as Conservator of Freddie Mac. The Trustee shall not be required to record any transfer in favor of any transferee which, in the sole discretion of the Trustee, is or might be construed to be ambiguous or to create uncertainty as to the Holder of the interest in the Plan Trust. Until a transfer of a Beneficial Interest is in fact recorded on the books and records maintained by the Trustee for the purpose of identifying Beneficiaries, the Trustee, whether or not in receipt of documents of transfer or other documents

2182597v18 - 25 -

relating to the transfer, may nevertheless make Distributions and send communications to Beneficiaries, as though it has no notice of any such transfer, and in so doing the Trustee shall be fully protected and incur no liability to any purported transferee or any other Person.

D. Beneficial Interests in Plan Trust Not a Security. Under § 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code, the issuance and transfer of Beneficial Interests under the Plan shall be exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933 and applicable state and local laws requiring registration of securities.

SECTION XI MISCELLANEOUS

- **A.** Amendment; Waiver. This Agreement cannot be amended or waived without the majority vote of the Advisory Committee (or, in the event that there are less than three (3) members then serving, the unanimous vote of the Advisory Committee) and the consent of the Trustee; provided, however, that no change shall be made to this Agreement that would adversely affect the federal income tax status of the Plan Trust as a "grantor trust" in accordance with Section VII.D. All amendments to this Agreement shall be in writing and signed by the Trustee and the Chair of the Advisory Committee.
- **B.** Intention of Parties to Establish Grantor Trust. This Agreement is intended to create a grantor trust for United States federal income tax purposes and, to the extent provided by law, shall be governed and construed in all respects as a grantor trust.
- C. Successor; Preservation of Privilege. The Plan Trust shall be the successor to the Debtors and/or the Creditors' Committee for the purposes of §§ 1123, 1129, 1142 and 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code and with respect to all Causes of Action and other litigation-related matters. In connection with the rights, Claims, and Causes of Action that constitute the Trust Assets, any attorney-client privilege, work-product privilege, or other privilege or immunity attaching to any documents or communications (whether written or oral) transferred to the Plan Trust shall vest in the Plan Trust and its representatives, and the Debtor, the members of the Creditors' Committee, and the Trustee are authorized and directed to take all necessary actions to effectuate the transfer of such privileges. The Trustee and the Advisory Committee shall be deemed to have a joint and common interest and, as such, communications among the Trustee and the Advisory Committee shall be protected from disclosure. The Trustee may waive its attorney-client privilege with respect to any Cause of Action or other litigation-related matter, or portion thereof, in the Trustee's discretion, subject to the approval of the Advisory Committee.
- **D.** Bankruptcy Court Jurisdiction. As provided in Article 13 of the Plan, the Bankruptcy Court has and shall retain post-Confirmation jurisdiction over all controversies, suits and disputes that may arise under this Agreement, including, without limitation, the interpretation or enforcement of this Agreement, the Distribution of Trust Assets (including without limitation the Persons entitled to receive any Distribution and jurisdiction over any interpleader action that the Trustee may file in the Bankruptcy Court to determine the identity of such Persons), the maintenance or liquidation of any Entity Assets by any Plan Trust Entity, the maintenance or liquidation of any Retained Assets by any Debtor, any petition to remove the Trustee, and any disputes between the Trustee, the Plan Trust, the Advisory Committee, and Holders of Claims

2182597v18 - 26 -

or Interests. The Trustee shall also have standing in any such proceeding to represent and enforce the rights of the Plan Trust and the Beneficiaries arising under this Agreement or the Plan, and the Advisory Committee shall have standing in any such proceeding to appear. Any and all Claims against or disputes to which the Trustee or the Advisory Committee is a party regarding this Agreement, the amount of Distributions to be made hereunder or under the Plan, or the Persons to whom such Distributions should be remitted, are subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court, to the extent the Bankruptcy Court has retained post-Confirmation jurisdiction over such matter.

- **E.** Cooperation. The Debtors shall provide the Trustee with copies of their books and records as the Trustee shall reasonably require for the purpose of performing its duties and exercising its powers hereunder.
- **F. Governing Law.** This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, without giving effect to rules governing the conflict of law.
- **G. Severability.** If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be determined by a Final Order of a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable to any extent, then (a) such provision shall be deemed enforceable only to the extent necessary to comply with applicable law, as applied to any Persons or circumstances as to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, and shall be enforced as so modified to the fullest extent permitted by law, and (b) the remainder of this Agreement, and the application of such provision to Persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby and shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law.
- H. Notices. All notices, demands, consents, requests and other communications required or permitted to be given or made hereunder (collectively, "Notices"), except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, shall be in writing, addressed to such party at its address as set forth below, and either (a) delivered in person, (b) mailed, by certified, registered or express mail, postage prepaid, (c) sent in a prepaid overnight delivery envelope via a nationally-recognized courier service (such as Federal Express), (d) faxed, or (e) sent by e-mail; provided that any party may change its address for notice by designating such party's new address, facsimile number or email address in a Notice to the sending party given at least five (5) Business Days before it shall become effective. All Notices shall be conclusively deemed to have been properly given when received or, if addressed in accordance with this Section and (1) if delivered in person, upon receipt, (2) if mailed by certified, registered or express mail, postage prepaid, on the third (3rd) Business Day after being deposited in the mails, (3) if sent by nationally-recognized courier service, on the next Business Day, (4) if faxed, when sent if confirmation of the transmission is shown on the sending machine, and (5) if e-mailed, when sent if no delivery failure message is received.

If to the Debtors:

Taylor, Bean and Whitaker Mortgage Corp. Home America Mortgage, Inc. REO Specialists, LLC c/o Neil F. Luria

2182597v18 - 27 -

Suite 120, Millenia Park One 4901 Vineland Road Orlando, FL 32811 Facsimile: 801-751-9537

E-mail: nluria@navigantcapitaladvisors.com

If to the Trustee:

Neil F. Luria Suite 120, Millenia Park One 4901 Vineland Road Orlando, FL 32811

Facsimile: 801-751-9537

E-mail: nluria@navigantcapitaladvisors.com

With a copy to:

Berger Singerman, P.A. 200 S. Biscayne Boulevard Suite 1000 Miami, FL 33131

Telephone: (305) 714-4343 Attn: Paul Steven Singerman

E-mail: singerman@bergersingerman.com

and

Berger Singerman, P.A. 350 East Las Olas Boulevard Suite 1000 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 Telephone: (954) 627-9901

Attn: James L. Berger

E-mail: jberger@bergersingerman.com

If to members of the Advisory Committee:

The address, facsimile number or e-mail address for notices provided by such member to the Trustee

I. Notices if to a Beneficiary. Any notice or other communication hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given, for all purposes, if deposited, postage prepaid, in a post office or letter box, and addressed in the name of and to the address set forth on the Debtor's Schedules or such Beneficiary's Proof of Claim, such other notice filed with the Bankruptcy Court and the Plan Trust, or by other means reasonably calculated to apprise the Beneficiary.

2182597v18 - 28 -

- **J. Third-Party Beneficiary.** There shall be no third-party beneficiaries of the Plan Trust; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Advisory Committee shall be an express third-party beneficiary hereof.
- **K. Headings.** The section headings contained in this Agreement are solely for convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement or of any term or provision hereof.
- **L.** Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument. A facsimile copy of a signature page is the equivalent of an original signature page.
- M. Definitions; Rules of Construction. Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in the Plan. References to a "Section" or "§"shall be to a Section to this Agreement unless otherwise specifically provided. Any term defined therein may be used in the singular or plural. The terms "include," "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by "without limitation." All pronouns used therein shall be deemed to cover all genders. Except as otherwise specified or limited therein, references to any Person include the successors and assigns of such Person. References "from" or "through" any date mean, unless otherwise specified, "from and including" or "through and including," respectively. Unless otherwise specified therein, all payments described or references to "\$" therein shall refer to United States Dollars. References to any agreement, instrument or document shall include all schedules, exhibits, annexes and other attachments thereto.

[Signatures on following page]

2182597v18 - 29 -

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have either executed and acknowledged this Agreement, or caused it to be executed and acknowledged on their behalf by their duly authorized officers all as of the date first above written.

DEBTORS:	
TAYLOR, BEAN & WHITAKER MORTGAGE CO HOME AMERICA MORTGAGE, INC., and REO SPECIALISTS, LLC	RP.,
By: Neil F. Luria, solely in his capacity as Chief Restructuring Officer	
TRUSTEE:	
Neil F. Luria, in his personal capacity	

2182597v18 - **30** -

Exhibit A

Engagement Letter

Exhibit B

Retained Assets



Navigant Capital Advisors, LLC Member FINRA 5215 Old Orchard Road Suite 850 Skokie, IL 60077 847.583.1618 phone 847.583.1719 fax

August ___, 2011

Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Plan Trust Suite 120 Millenia Park One 4901 Vineland Road Orlando, FL 32811 Attn: Liquidating Trustee

Re: Engagement of Navigant Capital Advisors, LLC ("NCA")

Gentlemen:

This letter outlines the understanding between NCA and the Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Plan Trust (the "Trust") for the engagement of NCA to perform certain services to the Trust in connection with its ongoing liquidation efforts.

Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Mortgage Corp. ("TBW") filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection on August 24, 2009 in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for the Middle District of Florida in Jacksonville, Florida (the "Bankruptcy Court") and retained NCA to provide the services of Neil F. Luria as Chief Restructuring Officer and additional NCA support staff to assist TBW in its restructuring efforts. By Order dated July__, 2011, the Third Amended and Restated Joint Plan of Liquidation of the TBW Debtors and the Official Committee of Unsecured Creditors (the "Plan") was confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court and the Plan became effective concurrent with the execution hereof. Pursuant to the terms hereof, the Trust will engage NCA to provide the services of Neil F. Luria as Liquidating Trustee (the "Liquidating Trustee") and the services of additional NCA support staff to assist the Liquidating Trustee in the execution of his duties. Under the terms of this engagement, NCA will act under the authority of the Liquidating Trustee, the Trust's Plan Trust Agreement (as defined in the Plan), and the Plan Advisory Committee (as defined in the Plan) and will work in conjunction with the Liquidating Trustee and the Plan Advisory Committee to coordinate, oversee, and direct the resources necessary to execute the mission of the Trust.

1. <u>Scope of Services</u>

Pursuant to this engagement ("Engagement"), NCA's role will specifically include working with the Trust's Plan Advisory Committee with respect to the following:

Oversight of the liquidation process as provided for in the Plan and implementation thereof;

Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Plan Trust August __, 2011 Page 2

- Administration of the Trust;
- Management of the professionals who are assisting the Trust in the liquidation process to enhance coordination of their efforts and individual work product consistent with the Trust's goals;
- Supervision of both short-term as well as long-term liquidity and asset optimization initiatives in order to maximize disposition value(s);
- Management of the Trust's cash and other assets;
- Communication and/or negotiation with outside constituents, including creditors and their advisors:
- Preparation for and coordination of asset dispositions; and
- Such other matters as may be requested consistent with our expertise and as are mutually agreed upon by the parties.

The engagement team will be led by Edward R. Casas who will have general oversight responsibilities with respect to the engagement, and Neil F. Luria. NCA will provide the services of Neil F. Luria as Liquidating Trustee and Edward R. Casas as head of strategy, litigation recoveries and asset disposition. Mr. Luria will also serve under the terms of this Engagement Letter, as necessary, as a director and officer of TBW and its subsidiaries.

NCA and the Liquidating Trustee shall be authorized to make decisions with respect to all aspects of the management and operation of the Trust's business, including without limitation organization and human resources, marketing and sales, logistics, finance and administration and such other areas as they deem necessary or appropriate in a manner consistent with the business judgment rule and the provisions of local law and the United States Bankruptcy Code applicable to the obligations of persons acting on behalf of corporations, subject only to appropriate governance by the Plan Advisory Committee in accordance with the Plan Trust Agreement and the Plan.

In addition to the Liquidating Trustee, NCA will continue to provide the services of various other professionals, at the discretion of the Liquidating Trustee, in various functional areas, including reporting, treasury and cash management, servicing and reconciliation, servicing operations, accounts payables and claims reconciliation, asset sales and capital markets. In addition, NCA will provide the services of various other individual professionals, at the discretion of the Liquidating Trustee, to serve as Trust Administrators (as defined in the Plan Trust Agreement) and/or to serve as officers of TBW and certain of its subsidiaries.

NCA's ability to perform this Engagement will depend upon the extent of cooperation that it receives from the Trust, and the Trust's advisors and representatives, including its legal counsel and accountants. In this regard, the Trust agrees to provide NCA full cooperation and access to financial, business and other information concerning the Trust which NCA reasonably deems appropriate. In addition to open access to all such information (including documents and financial records (or projections)), NCA will have full use and access to all work performed by prior investment banking advisors and management consultants, as well as any outside accounting and analyst reports and work papers, all valuation analyses, due diligence materials and other related materials which are (or could be) available to the

Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Plan Trust August __, 2011 Page 3

Trust (all such information and materials, documents and records being referred to as "Trust Information"). NCA agrees that, except as may otherwise be required by law, NCA will keep confidential and not disclose to third parties (other than representatives or independent contractors retained by NCA) all Trust Information that is confidential or propriety to the Trust and that NCA will use the same only in the performance of its duties under this Engagement.

NCA will begin this Engagement immediately upon (i) receipt of this executed engagement letter and the attached Indemnity Agreement, (ii) receipt of the Retainer as referenced below, (iii) receipt of the first Monthly Fee (as defined below) payment described below, and (iii) the receipt from the Trust of insurance policies described below (which policies must be satisfactory to NCA).

1. <u>Hourly Fees and Expenses</u>

NCA's compensation hereunder shall consist of the following:

For the services provided by Messrs. Casas and Luria, NCA will charge a monthly fee (the "Monthly Fee") in the monthly amount described below in immediately available funds with the first Monthly Fee to be paid upon execution of this Engagement Letter and the Monthly Fee is to be subsequently paid on the first day of each month thereafter through the term hereof. The Monthly Fee amount will be as set forth below:

Period	Monthly Fee
First 6 months	\$175,000 per month
Second 6 months	\$125,000 per month
Third 6 months	\$100,000 per month
Fourth 6 months	\$75,000 per month
Thereafter	\$50,000 per month

In addition, to the Monthly Fee, NCA shall be paid for the services provided by other NCA professionals at their standard hourly rates. The billing rates for professionals who may be assigned to this Engagement, including those listed above are as follows:

Base Hourly Rates:1

Senior Managing Directors / Senior Advisors

Managing Directors \$750-875/hr
Directors \$625-750/hr
Associate Directors \$550-625/hr
Managing Consultants \$450-550/hr
Consultants / Associates \$350-450/hr
Paraprofessionals \$245-350/hr
\$95-125/hr

The Monthly Fees will be paid as described above. In addition, the Trust agrees to pay NCA's reasonably incurred hourly fees (the "Fees") in connection with this Engagement based upon the rates set forth above on a weekly basis; however, the Trust expressly agrees that the hourly rates set forth in this engagement letter are subject to periodic adjustment upon notice to the Trust to reflect economic and other conditions. In addition, upon execution the Trust will pay to NCA (in addition to the first Monthly Fee) a retainer (the "Retainer") in the amount of \$100,000, and, subject to the following paragraph, NCA will charge against such Retainer its reasonably incurred and unpaid Fees and expenses on a weekly ba-

¹ NCA may utilize independent contractors under the direct supervision of NCA; the hourly rate for such personnel will be billed based upon the qualifications of the professional.

Case 3:09-bk-07047-JAF Doc 3322-2 Filed 07/10/11 Page 4 of 11

Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Plan Trust August __, 2011 Page 4

sis. NCA will provide the Trust and the Plan Advisory Committee with reasonably detailed weekly bills and such bills will be due upon receipt and payable, as set forth below, within three (3) days of receipt (after which point they will be charged against the Retainer and if the Retainer is not sufficient to cover such bills, the Trust will promptly wire the deficiency plus the amount necessary to replenish the Retainer in accordance with the following paragraph). If the Trust fails to comply with its obligations under this paragraph, then NCA shall have the right to cease work until the Trust does so comply without incurring any liability whatsoever.

The Trust further agrees that the amount of the Retainer held by NCA will at all times be not less than \$100,000, and that the Trust will, from time to time, remit to NCA such additional amounts as may be necessary to maintain the total amount of the Retainer currently held by NCA at or above \$100,000.

NCA's expenses as incurred will be billed separately. Generally these expenses include any travel-related expenses, document production, fax transmissions, teleconferencing charges, outside legal expenses incurred by NCA associated with this Engagement (including, fee application expenses, discovery costs and defense costs) and other expenses of this type which are associated with this Engagement. All professional fees and expenses will be paid and reimbursed via wire transfer (per instructions set forth on Exhibit A attached hereto) within three (3) days of receipt of the applicable NCA invoices by the Trust (after which point they will be charged against the Retainer and if the Retainer is not sufficient to cover such bills, the Trust will promptly wire the deficiency in accordance with the provisions hereof). Expenses payable hereunder will also include any unreimbursed expenses incurred in connection with the sale of mortgage servicing rights currently or previously owned by TBW which are sold for the benefit of TBW stakeholders.

In addition to the Monthly Fee and the Fees described above, NCA will receive a deferred restructuring Fee equal to 1.00% of the Aggregate Value (as defined below) of asset and other recoveries received by the Trust on or after the Effective Date from divestiture transactions, including the realization of proceeds from the divestiture of assets (by sale merger, settlement or otherwise) involving the Trust or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates or value associated with any negotiated claims reduction (the "Deferred Restructuring Fee Payments"). For purposes of this agreement, Aggregate Value shall mean gross sale proceeds to which the Trust is entitled from the sale of assets plus any litigation related settlements or payments received or other similar recoveries (including, without limitation, recoveries on servicing advances, due from balances and investments in subsidiaries) and, in the case of any negotiated claims reduction, value shall include the amount of distribution that such holder(s) would have otherwise been entitled to receive in connection with the negotiated claim reduction. The Deferred Restructuring Fee Payments will be made in immediately available funds at the closing of each respective transaction, recovery or payment (and related definitive agreements governing such transactions, recoveries, or payments shall disclose and acknowledge the Trust's liability to NCA for such Deferred Restructuring Fee Payments) or, in the case of any Deferred Restructuring Fee Payment associated with a negotiated claim reduction, at the time of final distributions to general unsecured creditors. It is expressly agreed that the cumulative amount of the Deferred Restructuring Fee Payments shall not be less than \$500,000 in the aggregate; any deficiency in the total amount of Deferred Restructuring Fee Payments paid to NCA shall be paid upon the earlier of the Conclusion (as defined below) of the case or upon the termination of NCA's services hereunder. For purposes of this Agreement, the term "Conclusion" shall mean the earlier of (i) the date on which the sale of substantially all of the assets of the Trust has been consummated or (ii) immediately prior to the dissolution of the Trust.

2. <u>Miscellaneous</u>

Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Plan Trust August __, 2011 Page 5

NCA will act under this engagement letter as an independent contractor with duties solely to the Trust with liability limited to the fees paid to NCA hereunder. Because we will be acting on your behalf in this capacity, it is our practice to receive indemnification. A copy of our standard indemnity form is attached hereto as Exhibit B ("Indemnity Agreement") and must be executed concurrently with this engagement letter. The terms of the Indemnity Agreement are incorporated by reference into this engagement letter.

Any advice or opinions provided by NCA in the capacity as financial advisor (i.e., not as Liquidating Trustee) may not be disclosed or referred to publicly or to any third party except in accordance with NCA's prior written consent. It is further understood that any advice rendered by NCA pursuant to this Engagement in the capacity as financial advisor (i.e., not as Liquidating Trustee), including any advice rendered during the course of participating in negotiations and meetings with management the Plan Advisory Committee, as well as any written materials provided by NCA, are intended solely for the benefit and confidential use of the Trust and the Plan Advisory Committee and will not be reproduced, summarized, described or referred to or given to any other person for any purpose without NCA's prior written consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that any materials are intended to be protected by the attorney/client privilege, the parties hereto will work with counsel to develop appropriate mechanisms to protect such information.

The Trust acknowledges and agrees that (i) NCA is not being retained to advise the Trust on, or to express any opinion as to, the wisdom, desirability or prudence of consummating a recapitalization, restructuring, reorganization or other transaction and (ii) NCA is not and will not be construed as a fiduciary of the Trust or any affiliate thereof and will have no duties or liabilities to the equityholders or creditors of the Trust, any affiliate of the Trust or any other person by virtue of this Engagement and the retention of NCA hereunder, all of which duties and liabilities are hereby expressly waived. Claimholders of the Trust are not intended beneficiaries hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, NCA acknowledges that Neil F. Luria is serving in a fiduciary capacity as Liquidating Trustee and other NCA professionals may serve, at the discretion of the Liquidating Trustee, as Trust Administrators of the Trust or officers of TBW and its subsidiaries in connection. The Trust confirms that it will rely on its own counsel, accountants and other similar expert advisors for legal, accounting, tax and other similar advice.

NCA and its officers, employees, representatives and agents will be entitled to the benefit of the most favorable indemnities the Trust is legally able to provide, whether under the Trust's by-laws, certificates of incorporation, by contract or otherwise. The Trust agrees that it will use its best efforts to specifically include and cover NCA and its employees or agents providing services to the Trust under the Trust's liability policy for directors' and officers' insurance . In the event that the Trust (i) is unable to include NCA and such individuals under the Trust's policy, or (ii) does not maintain first dollar liability coverage, in effect for at least \$10 million, it is agreed that NCA may in its discretion attempt to purchase a separate directors' and officers' policy or other such insurance policy that will cover NCA employees and representatives providing services to the Trust only and that the cost of same shall be invoiced to the Trust and reimbursed by the Trust as an out-of-pocket cash expense. If NCA is unable to purchase such insurance, then NCA reserves the right to terminate this agreement.

The terms of this engagement letter shall be construed, interpreted and applied in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida and the United States Bankruptcy Code. The Trust irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of any court of the State of Florida or the United States Bankruptcy Court of the Middle District of the State of Florida for the purpose of any suit, action or other proceeding arising out of this engagement letter which is brought by or against the Trust. Each of the Trust (and, to the extent permitted by law, on behalf of the Trust's equity holders and creditors) and NCA hereby knowingly, vo-

Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Plan Trust August __, 2011 Page 6

luntarily and irrevocably waives any right it may have to a trial by jury in respect of any claim based upon, arising out of or in connection with this engagement letter.

Because NCA and its affiliates serve clients on a national basis in numerous cases, both in and out of court, it is possible that NCA or its affiliates may have rendered services to, or have business associations with, other entities which had, or have, relationships with the Trust, including creditors of the Trust. Nonetheless, except as described below, NCA and affiliates have not, and will not perform services for, or have business connections with, any of these aforementioned entities in this matter involving the Trust. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Trust acknowledges that (i) NCA will be providing servicing directly or indirectly to the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation in connection with the sale of certain mortgage servicing rights previously owned by TBW, and (ii) NCA may in the future provide services to certain subsidiaries of TBW, including Ocala Funding LLC, and the Trust consents to NCA providing such services and hereby waives any currently existing or future conflict of interest that may result from NCA providing such services.

This engagement letter, and any modification or amendment thereto, may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original and all of which will constitute one and the same instrument.

Either the Trust or NCA may terminate this engagement letter upon 3 days' written notice; provided, however, that (i) all fees and expenses reimbursement due through the effective date of termination will be paid within 3 days of the effective date of termination and the Retainer may be credited against any amounts then due to NCA hereunder, (ii) no termination of this engagement letter will affect NCA's right to payment of fees or expense reimbursement pursuant to Section 1 or the indemnification contemplated by the Indemnity Agreement, and (iii) NCA will be entitled to any Deferred Restructuring Fee Payments it would have otherwise been entitled to related to any divestiture or other event that would have triggered the payment of a Deferred Restructuring Fee Payment occurring within 12 months of termination. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if NCA terminates this Engagement Letter without Cause or NCA fails to provide through NCA or its assignees the services of the Liquidating Trustee, NCA will not be entitled to receive any additional Deferred Restructuring Fee Payments. For purposes hereof, "Cause" shall mean: (i) breach of the terms hereof by the Trust, (ii) breach of the terms of the Indemnity Agreement by the Trust, or (iii) NCA determines, in its sole discretion, that the Trust does not have enough unencumbered cash in order to fund its expenses in the ordinary course.

All notices required or permitted to be delivered under this engagement letter shall be sent, if to us, to the address of NCA's Skokie, Illinois office as set forth at the head of this letter, to the attention of Mr. Edward R. Casas, and if to you, to the address for you set forth above, to the attention of the Trustee, with copies to Trust's general counsel and the members of the Plan Advisory Committee, or to such other name or address as may be given in writing to the other party. All notices under this engagement letter shall be sufficient if delivered by facsimile or overnight mail. Any notice shall be deemed to be given only upon actual receipt.

This engagement letter may only be assigned by NCA to affiliates or entities that retain the Liquidating Trustee and may only be modified, amended or waived by a writing signed by the parties hereto.

If the terms of our engagement as set forth in this letter are satisfactory, kindly sign the enclosed copy of this letter along with the attached Indemnity Agreement and return executed copies to me by fax with originals by overnight mail accompanied with a wire transfer in the amount of the Retainer.

Case 3:09-bk-07047-JAF Doc 3322-2 Filed 07/10/11 Page 7 of 11

Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Plan Trust August __, 2011 Page 7

rage /	
We look forward to working with you.	
	Very truly yours,
	NAVIGANT CAPITAL ADVISORS, LLC
	By: Edward R. Casas Senior Managing Director
Accepted, acknowledged and agreed to:	
TAYLOR, BEAN & WHITAKER PLAN TRUST	
By:	
Title:	

Exhibit A

Wiring Instructions

Please direct wire to:

Navigant Capital Advisors, LLC Bank of America 135 S. LaSalle St Chicago, IL 60674 ABA # 071000505 Account # 5800151127

Exhibit B

May __, 2011

Navigant Capital Advisors, LLC 5215 Old Orchard Road Suite 850 Skokie, IL 60077

Ladies and Gentlemen:

This letter will confirm that in connection with the engagement (the "Engagement") of Navigant Capital Advisors, LLC ("NCA") by Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Plan Trust (the "Trust") as reflected in the engagement letter dated the date hereof (all capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein having meanings described in such engagement letter) the Trust agrees to indemnify and hold harmless NCA and its affiliates and their respective members, officers, directors, employees and agents and each other person, if any, controlling NCA or any of its affiliates (each referred to herein as an "Indemnified Person") to the fullest extent permitted by law from and against any losses, claims, damages, obligations, penalties, judgments, awards, costs, disbursements or liabilities, including amounts paid in settlement (collectively, "Losses"), based upon, related to, arising out of or in connection with the Engagement, and will reimburse each Indemnified Person for all expenses (including fees and expenses of counsel) ("Expenses") as they are incurred in connection with investigating, preparing, pursuing or defending any action, claim, suit, investigation, or proceeding related to, arising out of or in connection with the Engagement, whether or not pending or threatened and whether or not any Indemnified Person is a party. Furthermore, the Trust will pay NCA at its standard hourly rates for any NCA professional time incurred in connection with any action, claim, suit, investigation or proceeding described in the foregoing sentence. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the Trust be responsible for any Losses or Expenses that arise out of or in connection with the Engagement which are finally judicially determined to have resulted primarily and directly from the willful misconduct or gross negligence of NCA.

If any litigation, investigation or proceeding is commenced as to which NCA proposes to demand indemnification, NCA will notify the Trust with reasonable promptness; provided, however, that any failure by NCA to notify the Trust will relieve the Trust from its obligations hereunder only to the extent the Trust has been materially prejudiced by such failure or delay. NCA will have the right to retain counsel (and local counsel, if appropriate) of its own choice to represent it, and the Trust will pay the fees, expenses and disbursements of such counsel. The Trust retains the right to participate in the defense of such litigation, investigation or proceeding as to which NCA seeks indemnification through counsel of the Trust's choice (the cost of which will be paid by the Trust) and NCA will reasonably cooperate with such counsel and the Trust (including, to the extent possible and consistent with its own interests, keeping the Trust reasonably informed of such defense). The Trust will be liable for any settlement of any claim against NCA made with the Trust's written consent, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld.

If, for any reason, the foregoing indemnification is unavailable to any of the Indemnified Parties or is insufficient to hold them harmless in respect of any Losses or Expenses, then the Trust will contribute to the amount paid or payable by any of the Indemnified Parties as a result of such Losses and Expenses in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative benefits (or anticipated benefits) to the Trust on the one hand and the Indemnified Parties on the other hand from the matter giving rise to the need for indemnification, or if such allocation is not permitted by applicable law, then in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect not only the relative benefits received by the Trust and beneficiaries on the one hand and the Indemnified Parties on the other hand, but also the relative fault of the Trust and its advisers (other than NCA) on the one hand and the Indemnified Parties on the other hand, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative benefits received (or anticipated to be received) by the Trust and its beneficiaries on the one hand and by the Indemnified Parties on the other hand will be deemed to be in the same proportion as such benefit bears to the total fees paid to NCA pursuant to the Engagement related to the matter giving rise to the need for indemnification. The relative fault of any party or other person will be determined by reference to such party's or person's knowledge, access to information and opportunity to prevent or correct any misstatement, omission, misconduct or breach of duty. In no event will the amount required to be contributed by the Indemnified Parties hereunder exceed the total amount of fees paid to NCA pursuant to the Engagement. You and we agree that it would not be just and equitable if contribution were determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation which does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to above.

The reimbursement, indemnity and contribution obligations of the Trust hereunder will (i) be in addition to any liability which the Trust may otherwise have, (ii) survive the completion or termination of NCA's engagement under the Engagement and (iii) shall be binding upon any successors and assigns of the Trust. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, for the purposes hereof, the Trust agrees that any Losses or Expenses of NCA resulting from work undertaken by NCA in connection with the sale of TBW's current or former mortgage servicing rights for the benefit of TBW stakeholders are deemed to be based upon, related to, arising out of or in connection with the Engagement and subject to indemnification hereunder.

The Trust agrees that without the prior written consent of NCA, it will not consent, settle, compromise, consent to the entry of any judgment in or otherwise seek to terminate any action, claims, suit or proceeding in respect of which indemnification may be sought hereunder (whether or not any Indemnified Person is a party thereto) unless (i) such settlement, compromise, consent or termination includes an unconditional release of each Indemnified Person from any and all claims and liabilities arising out of such action, claim, suit or proceeding and (ii) there is no statement in connection therewith as to an admission of fault culpability or failure to act by or on behalf of any Indemnified Party.

The provisions of this agreement shall apply to the Engagement and any written modification thereof signed by the parties and shall remain in full force and effect regardless of any termination or the completion of NCA's services under the Engagement.

This agreement will be deemed made in Florida. The validity and interpretation of this agreement will be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of Florida (excluding the conflicts of laws rules) and the United States Bankruptcy Code The parties

irrevocably submit to the jurisdiction of any court of the State of Florida or the United States Bankruptcy Court of the Middle District of the State of Florida for the purpose of any suit, action or other proceeding arising out of this agreement which is brought by or against the Trust. Each of the Trust and NCA hereby knowingly, voluntarily and irrevocably waives any right it may have to a trial by jury in respect of any claim based upon, arising out of or in connection with this agreement.

Very truly yours,

TAYLOR, BEAN & WHITAKER PLAN TRUST

By:______
Title:_____
Date:____
Edward R. Casas
Senior Managing Director

Very truly yours,

ACVENTAL & WHITAKER PLAN TRUST

PLAN TRUST AGREEMENT

TAYLOR, BEAN & WHITAKER MORTGAGE CORP., HOME AMERICA MORTGAGE, INC., and REO SPECIALISTS, LLC,

as Debtors,

and

NEIL F. LURIA,

as Trustee

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		PAGE
SECTION 1	APPOINTMENT OF TRUSTEE	2
SECTION 1	II PLAN TRUST	2
A.	Establishment	2
B.	Funding	2
C.	Purpose	<u>35</u>
D.	Beneficiaries Deemed Grantors of Plan Trust	3 <u>5</u>
E.	Documentation of Trust Assets	<u>35</u>
F.	Initial Valuation of Trust Assets	3 <u>5</u>
G.	Termination	4 <u>6</u>
SECTION 1	III TRUSTEE	4 <u>6</u>
A.	Trustee is a Fiduciary	4 <u>6</u>
B.	Scope of Authority	4 <u>6</u>
C.	Power to Declare a Disputed Ownership Fund	7 <u>Funds</u>
D.	Proof of Authority 7Power to Establish Qualified S	Settlement Funds
E.	Proof of Authority	<u>11</u>
<u>F.</u>	Limitations on Trustee's Authority; Permitted Investments	<u>811</u>
F. <u>G</u> .	_Reliance by Trustee	<u>912</u>
G. <u>H</u>	_Authorization to Expend Trust Assets	<u>912</u>
<u>I.</u>	Trust Administrator	<u>13</u>
<u>J.</u>	Post Effective Date Management	<u>14</u>
H. <u>K</u>	_Compensation	<u>914</u>
<u>I. L.</u>	Bond	<u> 4015</u>
<u>J. M.</u>	Insurance	<u> 1015</u>
<u>K. N</u>	_Confidentiality	<u> 1015</u>
L. <u>O</u>	_Final Decree	<u> 1015</u>
M.	Termination	10
<u>P.</u>	<u>Termination</u>	<u>15</u>
SECTION 1	IV BENEFICIARIES	<u>1015</u>
A.	Maintenance of List of Beneficiaries	<u>1015</u>
В.	Identification of Beneficiaries	4115

<u>10</u> <u>10</u>

C.	Withholding	<u>1116</u>
D.	Tax Identification Numbers	<u>+1_16</u>
SECTION V	ADVISORY COMMITTEE	41 <u>16</u>
A.	Duties and Powers	<u>41<u>16</u></u>
B.	Advisory Committee Members	12 <u>16</u>
C.	Advisory Committee is a Fiduciary	<u>12</u> 16
D.	Material Decisions	<u>12</u> 17
E.	Unanimous Decisions	<u>1419</u>
F.	Conflicts	<u> 14<u>19</u></u>
G.	Bylaws and Voting; Selection of Chair; Execution of Documents	<u>14</u> 19
H.	Reporting	<u>14</u> 19
I.	No Compensation; Reimbursement of Committee Members	<u>1519</u>
J.	Objection to Fees.	<u>1520</u>
K.	Termination	15 Termination
SECTION V	I DISTRIBUTIONS	<u> 1520</u>
2182597v <mark>9</mark> ⚠·	Application of Trust Assets	<u> 4520</u>
В.	Distributions	<u>1520</u>
C.	Reserves Established by Trustee	<u>1520</u>
D.	Priorities	<u>1621</u>
E.	De Minimis Distributions	<u>1621</u>
F.	Undeliverable Distributions	<u>1621</u>
G.	Compliance with Laws	<u>1621</u>
SECTION V	II REPORTS, TAX MATTERS, BOOKS AND RECORDS	<u>1621</u>
A.	Initial Valuation	<u> 1621</u>
B.	Annual Financial Statements and Statement to Beneficiaries	<u>1621</u>
C.	Quarterly Filings with Bankruptcy Court and U.S. Trustee	<u>1621</u>
D.	Federal Income Tax	<u>1721</u>
E.	Other Filings.	<u>1722</u>
F.	Disputed Ownership Fund – Tax Effect	<u>1722</u>
$G_{\underline{\bullet}}$	Qualified Settlement Fund – Tax Effect	
- <u>Н</u> .	Books and Records	
_	III LIMITATION OF LIABILITY	
A.	Exculpation	

<u>20</u>

Case 3:09-bk-07047-JAF Doc 3322-3 Filed 07/10/11 Page 4 of 38

	В.	Indemnification	18 <u>23</u>
SECT	TION IX	K SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE	<u>1924</u>
	A.	Removal	19 24
	B.	Resignation; Death	<u>19</u> 24
	C.	Acceptance of Appointment by Successor Trustee	<u>19</u> 24
	D.	Continuation of Plan Trust	<u>19</u> 24
SECT	TION X	EVIDENCE OF AND NON-TRANSFERABILITY OF BENEFICIARY'S INTERESTS	<u>2025</u>
	A.	Beneficial Interests Maintained in Book Entry Form	20 25
	B.	Non-Transferability of Beneficial Interests	20 25
	C.	Limited Exception to Non-Transferability of Beneficial Interests	20 25
	D.	Beneficial Interests in Plan Trust Not a Security	21 26
SECT	TION X	I MISCELLANEOUS.	21 <u>26</u>
	A.	Amendment; Waiver	<u>21</u> 26
	B.	Intention of Parties to Establish Grantor Trust	<u>21</u> 26
2192507	C.	Successor; Preservation of Privilege	21 26
2182597	D.	Bankruptcy Court Jurisdiction	2 <u>21</u> 26
	E.	Cooperation	22 27
	F.	Governing Law	22 27
	G.	Severability	22 27
	H.	Notices	22 27
	I.	Notices if to a Beneficiary	23 28
	J.	Third-Party Beneficiary	23 29
	K.	Headings	23 29
	L.	Counterparts	23 29
	M.	Definitions; Rules of Construction	23 29

PLAN TRUST AGREEMENT

THIS PLAN TRUST AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made this __ day of _____, 2011, by and among Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Mortgage Corp., a Florida corporation ("TBW"), and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Home America Mortgage, Inc., a Florida corporation ("HAM"), and REO Specialists, LLC, a Florida limited liability company ("REO"), (TBW, HAM and REO are individually, a "Debtor" and collectively, the "Debtors"), and Neil F. Luria ("Luria"), and together with any successors, in his capacity as Plan Trustee under the Plan (in such capacity, the "Trustee").1

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS:

- **A.** On August 24, 2009, TBW filed a voluntary petition for relief under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code (the "<u>Bankruptcy Code</u>") in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Middle District of Florida (the "<u>Bankruptcy Court</u>").
- **B.** On November 25, 2009, HAM and REO filed voluntary petitions under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Bankruptcy Court. The Debtors' respective cases were administratively consolidated for ease of administration.
- **D.** The Plan provides for the establishment of a liquidating trust for federal income tax purposes in which all Assets of the Debtors shall vest on the Plan's Effective Date. The purpose of the liquidating trust is to appoint a trustee to liquidate the Assets of the respective Debtors and make the Distributions provided for under the Plan.
- E. As provided under the Plan and in this Agreement, the Plan Trust (as defined below) shall (i) accept the Assets of each Debtor_transferred to the Plan Trust or cause any Plan Trust Entity (as defined below) to accept the Assets of each Debtor transferred to such Plan Trust Entity, free and clear of Liens, except as provided under the Plan, and subject to all liabilities owed under the Plan by the respective Debtor to Holders of Allowed Administrative Claims, Allowed Priority Tax Claims, Allowed Priority Claims, U.S. Trustee fees, and any obligations owing to Secured Creditors under the Plan or the Confirmation Order, and (ii) distribute all payments provided for under the Plan to such Holders and distribute the Net Distributable Assets of each Debtor's respective Estates to the Holders of Allowed Unsecured Claims against such Debtor.
- F. This Agreement establishes the Plan Trust, allows the Plan Trust to establish any Plan Trust Entity to further the purposes of this Agreement, appoints the Trustee for the Plan Trust, gives the Plan Trust certain right and powers with respect to any such Plan Trust Entity, and provides the framework within which the Trustee shall carry out its duties and implement key provisions of the Plan. As provided below, all Distributions the Trustee makes to Creditors shall be

As used in this Agreement, the term "Trustee" shall have the same meaning as the term "Plan Trustee" used in the Plan.

made in accordance with the Plan, this Agreement and § 301.7701-4(d) of the Treasury Regulations issued pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code (the "<u>Treasury Regulations</u>"). In accordance with such Treasury Regulations, the Plan Trust has no objective to continue or engage in the conduct of a trade or business. The Plan Trust contains a fixed determinable termination date that is not more than five (5) years from the date of creation of the Plan Trust, subject to extension as set forth herein based on all of the facts and circumstances.

- **FG.** Neither the Plan nor this Agreement substantively consolidates the Assets of the Debtors. Creditors of each Debtor shall receive Distributions only from Assets of such Debtor.
- **GH.** Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in the Plan.
- **NOW, THEREFORE**, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein and in the Plan, the Debtors and the Trustee agree as follows:

SECTION I APPOINTMENT OF TRUSTEE

Neil F. Luria shall serve as the Trustee under the Plan, and Luria hereby accepts such appointment and agrees to serve in such capacity, effective upon the Effective Date of the Plan.

2182597v<mark>918</mark>

SECTION II PLAN TRUST

A. Establishment. Pursuant to the Plan, the Debtor and the Trustee hereby establish the "Taylor, Bean & Whitaker Plan Trust" (the "<u>Plan Trust</u>") on behalf of, and for the benefit of, the Holders of Allowed Claims of the Debtors (whether such Claims are Allowed as of or subsequent to the Effective Date) (collectively, the "<u>Beneficiaries</u>"). <u>Except as provided herein, the Plan Trust shall be vested with title to all Assets of each Debtor.</u>

B. Funding.

B. Funding Transfer of Title. Each Debtor hereby transfers, assigns, and delivers to the Plan Trust, effective as of the Plan's Effective Date, for the benefit of the Beneficiaries with Claims against such Debtor, all of such Debtors' right, title and interest in and to all of its Assets, including without limitation, all Claims and Causes of Action of its Estate, in each case provided, however, (i) each Debtor hereby retains legal title to, and transfers beneficial title to, its Retained Assets pursuant to Section II.B.2(i), (ii) the Debtor retains all legal and beneficial title to its membership interests in Ocala Funding and shall have all of the Debtor's ownership of, title to, and liabilities associated with such membership interests, and (iii) any Debtor may transfer its title to any Asset to any Entity created by the Plan Trust in accordance with Section II.B.2(ii); provided, further, that all Assets as to which legal or beneficial title is transferred to the Plan Trust or any Entity created by the Plan Trust are transferred free and clear of any Lien, Claim or

interest of any other Person except as provided in the Plan (such Assets with respect to each Debtor, the "Trust Assets" of such Debtor), but subject to the Liabilities (defined below).² The "Trust Assets" shall mean, for each Debtor's Estate, (a) all Assets as to which legal and beneficial title are transferred to the Plan Trust by such Debtor, and (b) the beneficial title to all Retained Assets as to which legal title is retained by such Debtor. The Assets transferred to any Entity created by the Plan Trust in accordance with Section II.B.2(ii) (each, a "Plan Trust Entity") are not Trust Assets, but the Plan Trust's equity interest in such Plan Trust Entity is a Trust Asset. In accordance with § 1123(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Plan Trust shall be vested with, retain and may exclusively enforce, prosecute and resolve any or all Causes of Action that the Debtors, the Estates or the Creditors' Committee may have against any Person. The Trustee hereby accepts and agrees to hold the Trust Assets of such Debtor in trust for the Beneficiaries with Claims against such Debtor, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Plan, but subject to the Liabilities, as more particularly described below.

2. Retained Assets; Assets Transferred to a Plan Trust Entity; Abandonment of Trust Assets.

(i) Retained Assets.

2182597v<mark>9<u>18</u></mark>

From time to time on and after the Effective Date, the Trustee may elect for convenience purposes to retain in the Debtors legal title to certain Assets of such Debtor and shall identify on Exhibit B hereto any such Assets (collectively, the "Retained Assets"). As to any such Asset, the Plan Trust shall acquire beneficial ownership of, but shall not have legal title to, such Asset. The Trustee may in its discretion amend or modify Exhibit B from time to time. Upon the identification of such Retained Assets on Exhibit B, the beneficial title to those Retained Assets will be deemed conveyed as of the Plan's Effective Date. The Trustee shall update Exhibit B from time to time to reflect all assets that shall constitute Retained Assets under this Agreement. The Plan Trust shall have no responsibility for or liability pertaining to the Retained Assets, except as provided in this Agreement. Upon the liquidation of any Retained Assets by a Debtor, the Trustee shall promptly cause such proceeds to be paid to the Plan Trust in satisfaction of its obligations under the Plan.

(ii) Asset Transferred to or Held in a Plan Trust Entity.

From time to time on and after the Effective Date, a Debtor may convey all its right, title and interest in any Asset (including its legal title to any Retained Asset), and the Trustee may contribute all of its right, title and

As used in this Agreement, the term "Trust Assets" shall have the same meaning as the term "Plan Trust Assets" used in the Plan.

interest in any Trust Asset (including its beneficial title to any Retained Asset), to any Plan Trust Entity that the Plan Trust may form, so that such Plan Trust Entity has all legal and beneficial title thereto. All the benefits of ownership and liabilities with respect to such Asset or Trust Asset conveyed (hereinafter an "Entity Asset") shall transfer to such Plan Trust Entity. The Plan Trust shall have no responsibility for or liability pertaining to any Entity Asset, except as provided in this Agreement, but shall have the rights and limitation of liability protections that inure to the Plan Trust as the equity owner of such Plan Trust Entity.

(iii) Abandonment of Trust Assets.

From time to time on and after the Effective Date, the Plan Trust or a Plan Trust Entity may, with the approval of the Advisory Committee, abandon any Trust Asset or Entity Asset (including any Retained Asset as to which it has beneficial ownership) to the Debtor that formerly owned such Asset, so that such Debtor has legal and beneficial title thereto. Further, the Trustee may cause any Debtor to create an Entity to own and hold such asset. All the benefits of ownership and liabilities with respect to such asset shall transfer to such Debtor or Entity. The Plan Trust shall have no responsibility for or liability pertaining to any asset owned by any Debtor or any Entity created by any Debtor.

2182597v918

Transfer is Subject to Liabilities. The Assets of each Debtor as to which legal or beneficial title is transferred to the Plan Trust or any Plan Trust Entity are hereby transferred subject to the following liabilities, if any, which arise out of or relate to any known or unknown Claim against the respective Debtors or their Estates (such liabilities with respect to each Debtor, the "Liabilities" of such Debtor): (i) Allowed Administrative Claims, Allowed Priority Tax Claims, and Allowed Priority Claims that have not been paid as of the Effective Date or that are subsequently Allowed; (ii) all U.S. Trustee fees until such time as the Bankruptcy Court enters a final decree closing each Debtor's respective Chapter 11 Case; and (iii) any obligations owing to Secured Creditors under the Plan or the Confirmation Order; but (iv) specifically excluding any Claims that have been barred by, or satisfied under, the Plan.

The Trustee hereby accepts and agrees to hold the Trust Assets of such Debtor in trust for the Beneficiaries with Claims against such Debtor, in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and the Plan, but subject to the Liabilities, as more particularly described herein.

<u>i.</u> Allowed Administrative Claims, Allowed Priority Tax Claims, and Allowed Priority Claims that have not been paid as of the Effective Date or that are subsequently Allowed;

- <u>ii.</u> <u>all U.S. Trustee fees until such time as the Bankruptcy Court</u> enters a final decree closing each Debtor's respective Chapter 11 Case; and
- <u>iii.</u> any obligations owing to Secured Creditors under the Plan or the Confirmation Order; but
- <u>iv.</u> <u>excluding, however, any Claims that have been barred by, or</u> satisfied under, the Plan.
- Plan Distributions and Reserves. The Plan Trust is hereby deemed vested <u>4.</u> with title to the Trust Assets of each Debtor on the Effective Date, prior to the payment of any Claims to be made under the Plan on the Effective Date. Thus, the Trustee shall distribute from the Trust Assets all Distributions provided for in the Plan, including those to be paid on the Plan's Effective Date, as described below in Section VI. As further provided in Section VI, the Trustee shall also establish (1) an Administrative and Priority Claims Reserve to facilitate the payment of Liabilities, (2) a Plan Trust Operating Expense Reserve to ensure that the Plan Trust has adequate capital to liquidate the Trust permit the Plan Trust to liquidate the Trust Assets, to permit any Plan Trust Entity to liquidate its Entity Assets, and to permit any Debtor to liquidate its Retained Assets, and (3) a Disputed Claims Reserve to preserve, for the benefit of Beneficiaries whose claims are not Allowed on the Effective Date, their respective Pro Rata share of Net Distributable Assets of the Trust.

2182597v<mark>9<u>18</u></mark>

- **C. Purpose.** The Plan Trust shall be established for the primary purpose of liquidating and distributing the Trust Assets with no objective to continue or engage in the conduct of a trade or business, except to the extent reasonably necessary to, and consistent with, the liquidation purpose of the Plan Trust.
- D. Beneficiaries Deemed Grantors of Plan Trust. The Plan Trust is intended to qualify as a grantor trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes and shall be structured with the intention of complying with Revenue Procedure 94-45, 1994-C.B. 584, which sets forth the general criteria for obtaining an IRS ruling as to the grantor trust status of a liquidating trust under a chapter 11 plan. The Debtor, the Plan Trust and the Beneficiaries, for all U.S. federal income tax purposes, will treat the Trust Assets as having been transferred by the Debtor to the Beneficiaries pursuant to the Plan Trust, followed by a contribution of such Trust Assets by the Beneficiaries to the Plan Trust, with the intention that the Plan Trust will be treated as a grantor trust and the Beneficiaries will be treated as grantors and owners. Assuming the Plan Trust is treated as a liquidating trust, the holders of beneficial interests in the Plan Trust (each such interest, a "Beneficial Interest") should be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as the direct owners of an undivided interest in the Trust Assets. For purposes of this Section II.D, the deemed transfer of Trust Assets for U.S. income tax purposes to the holders of beneficial interests in the Plan Trust shall not be reduced by the Liabilities described in Section II.B.3 (excluding amounts owed to Holders of Allowed Administrative Claims, Holders of Allowed Priority Tax Claims, Holders of Allowed Priority Claims, Holders of Allowed Secured Claims, and U.S. Trustee fees) and the Holders of such Liabilities (excluding amounts owed to Holders of Allowed Administrative Claims, Holders of

Allowed Priority Tax Claims, Holders of Allowed Priority Claims, Holders of Allowed Secured Claims, and U.S. Trustee fees) would be treated as beneficial owners in the Plan Trust for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

- **E. Documentation of Trust Assets.** Each Debtor shall, on or prior to the Effective Date, execute such documents as shall be reasonably required to evidence the transfer to the Plan Trust or any Plan Trust Entity on behalf of the Beneficiaries effective as of the Effective Date (in accordance with Section B.1 and B.2 of this Article II.B hereof) any and all of such Debtor's real and personal property (other than legal title to any Retained Assets) to form the Trust Assets or the Entity Assets. The Debtors shall have no further obligation to provide any funding with respect to the Plan Trust, except for the transfer of proceeds from any liquidation of any Retained Assets as provided in Section II.B.2.
- F. Initial Valuation of Trust Assets. As soon as practicable after the Effective Date, the Trustee shall apprise each of the Beneficiaries in writing of the value of the Trust Assets by filing such valuation with the Bankruptcy Court. The valuation shall be used consistently by all parties (including the Debtors, the Trustee and the Beneficiaries) for all federal income tax purposes. The Trustee may, if it so chooses in its sole discretion, determine the value of the Trust Assets based upon its own good-faith determination, or may seek a judicial valuation of the Trust Assets as of the Effective Date by the Bankruptcy Court. Such valuation shall include the value of the Plan Trust's equity in any Plan Trust Entity and the Plan Trust's beneficial ownership of any Retained Assets.

2182597v<mark>9<u>18</u></mark>

G. Termination. The Plan Trust shall terminate after the Distribution of all Plan Trust Assets and the full performance of all other duties and functions of the Trustee under the Plan and this Agreement, or as otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Plan Trust shall terminate no later than the fifth (5th) anniversary of the Effective Date; provided, however, the Bankruptcy Court, upon motion by a party in interest, may extend the term of the Plan Trust for a finite period if it is necessary to the liquidating purpose thereof. Multiple extensions can be obtained. Any extension shall be obtained within the six (6) month period prior to the fifth (5th) anniversary or the end of the immediately preceding extension, as applicable.

SECTION III TRUSTEE

A. Trustee is a Fiduciary. The Trustee's powers are exercisable solely in a fiduciary capacity consistent with, and in furtherance of, the purposes of the Plan Trust. The Trustee may deal with the Trust Assets, Entity Assets or Retained Assets, as permitted by the provisions hereof. The Trustee shall have the authority to bind the Plan Trust and for all purposes hereunder shall be acting in the capacity as Trustee and not individually. All Distributions made by the Trustee of Cash comprising the FDIC Carve out and the BB&T Fundson behalf of a Creditor of a Debtor shall be made by the Trustee solely in its capacity as disbursing agent for the FDICsuch Creditor and, to the extent required by law or otherwise, shall be reported for U.S. income tax purposes as Distributions from this Plan Trust or, if applicable, from any "disputed ownership fund" or "qualified settlement fund" created by the Trustee under this Agreement. Such Distributions shall include, but not be limited to, payments of Cash to be made to Holders of Allowed Trade Claims pursuant to any of the Bayview Settlement Agreement, the FDIC Settlement Agreement, the

Freddie Mac Settlement Agreement, the Natixis Settlement Agreement, the Sovereign Settlement Agreement, and any other settlement agreement to which any Debtor or the Plan Trust is or becomes a party.

- **B.** Scope of Authority. The Trustee is authorized to perform any and all acts necessary or desirable to accomplish the purposes of the Plan, subject to the terms of this Agreement. The Trustee shall in an expeditious but orderly manner liquidate and convert to Cash the Trust Assets, the Entity Assets and the Retained Assets, make Distributions and not unduly prolong the duration of the Plan Trust. In so doing, the Trustee shall exercise its reasonable business judgment in liquidating the Trust Assets. Without any further Bankruptcy Court approval (except as specifically required herein) and without the approval of the Advisory Committee (except as to Material Decisions), and subject in all respects to the other terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Trustee shall have the power to take the following actions:
 - (1) liquidate the Trust Assets by any means permitted by law, liquidate the Trust Assets, cause any Plan Trust Entity to liquidate its Entity Assets, and cause any Debtor to liquidate its Retained Assets, including, without limitation, the sale of Trust Assets such assets and the prosecution or settlement of Causes of Action;
 - (2) handle the prosecution or settlement of objections to and estimations of Claims;

- (3) calculate and implement all Distributions in accordance with the Plan; whether to be made on or after the Effective Date of the Plan;
- (4) manage the wind-down of the Debtor's operations, if any, including filing tax returns of the Debtors (including the filing of final tax returns and the payment of any taxes shown thereon, and the right to request an expedited determination under § 505 of the Bankruptcy Code), settling or satisfying Administrative Claims, Priority Tax Claims, and Priority Claims, and completing any sales of Assets that were not completed as of the Effective Date (including on behalf of any Debtor any sale of Retained Assets);
- (5) liquidate or otherwise dispose of collateral that secures any Allowed Secured Claim, and remit any proceeds of such disposition in accordance with the priority set forth in Section VI.D. of this Agreement;
- (6) file pleadings and papers and seek relief before the Bankruptcy Court or other courts of competent jurisdiction, where appropriate;
- (7) hold legal or beneficial title to the Trust Assets;
- (8) protect and enforce the rights to the Trust Assets vested in the Trustee by this Agreement by any method deemed appropriate including, without limitation, by judicial proceedings or pursuant to any applicable law and general principles of equity;

- (9) file, prosecute, settle, compromise, withdraw, litigate to judgment, adjust, arbitrate, sue on or defend, abandon, or otherwise deal with Causes of Action and any other Claims in favor of or against the Plan Trust as the Trustee shall deem advisable;
- (10) establish, maintain and terminate accounts at banks and other financial institutions, in a clearly specified fiduciary capacity, in which the Trust Assets or other Cash and property of the Plan Trust may be deposited, and draw checks or make withdrawals from such accounts on the sole signature of the Trustee;
- (11) execute any document or pleading, and file any pleading, relating to the Trust

 Assets and incidental to the exercise of any of the Trustee's powers and duties
 granted herein (whether relating to the Trust Assets, any Entity Assets or any
 Retained Assets), including the exercise of the Debtors' or the Creditors
 Committee's respective rights as such rights existed prior to the Effective
 Date to conduct discovery and oral examinations of any party under Rule
 2004 of the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure;
- (12) determine and satisfy any and all liabilities created, incurred or assumed by the Plan Trust;

- (13) pay all fees and expenses, and make all other payments relating to, the administration, management, maintenance, operation, preservation or liquidation of the Trust Assets or by the Plan Trust, cause any Plan Trust Entity to do so with respect to its Entity Assets, and cause any Debtor to do so with respect to its Retained Assets, or relating to the pursuit of Causes of Action, and pay all U.S. Trustee Fees;
- (14) file <u>or cause to be filed</u>, if necessary, any and all tax and information returns with respect to any Debtor <u>or</u> the Plan Trust <u>or any Plan Trust Entity</u>, and pay <u>or cause to be paid</u> taxes properly payable by <u>any Debtor</u> the Plan Trust <u>or any Plan Trust Entity</u>, if any;
- obtain insurance coverage with respect to the liabilities and obligations of the Trustee and the Plan Trust (<u>including as an officer, director, manager, shareholder or member of any Plan Trust Entity or Debtor)</u>, in the form of an errors and omissions policy, fiduciary policy or otherwise); <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, the Plan Trust is a successor of the Debtor for the purposes of continuing to receive benefits under insurance policies entered into by the Debtor;
- obtain <u>or cause to be obtained</u> insurance coverage with respect to real and personal property which <u>may beis</u> or may become Trust Assets, <u>Retained Assets or Entity Assets</u>;
- (17) dissolve any Entity <u>(including any Debtor or Plan Trust Entity)</u>, terminate joint ventures, and otherwise wind up any Entity <u>owned by the Plan Trust</u>;

- (18) create any Entity (referred to as a Plan Trust Entity) for the purpose of holding or managing TrustEntity Assets, or in connection with the sale or other disposition thereof or for any other purpose consistent with, and exercise on behalf of such Plan Trust Entity all the corporate or limited liability company or other powers available to such Plan Trust Entity under applicable law, and cause such Plan Trust Entity to dividend, as a return on capital, the net proceeds from the sale of Entity Assets, all such powers to be exercised in a manner that is consistent with the other provisions of this Agreement;
- (19) execute rights of setoff against any and all Claims, rights and Causes of Action of any nature that the Trustee may at any time hold against such Holder; provided, however, that neither the failure to effect such a setoff nor the allowance of any Claim under or in accordance with the Plan shall constitute a waiver or release by the Trustee of any such Claim, right or Cause of Action that the Trustee may at any time possess against such Holder;
- retain and pay, or cause to be retained and paid, law firms to aid the Trustee in the prosecution of any Causes of Action that constitute the Trust Assets or Entity Assets, and to perform such other functions as may be appropriate, including advising or assisting the Trustee in the discharge of its duty as Trustee. The Trustee may commit the Plan Trust to and shall pay such law firms' reasonable compensation for services rendered and expenses incurred. A law firm shall not be disqualified because it was counsel to the Debtors or the Creditors' Committee or its members or continues to serve as counsel to the Debtors;

(21) retain and pay, or cause to be retained and paid, public accounting firms to perform such reviews and/or audits of the financial books and records of the Plan Trust and any Plan Trust Entity, and to prepare and file any tax returns or informational returns for the Plan Trust and any Plan Trust Entity, or to consult on matters impacting the Plan Trust or any Plan Trust Entity. The Trustee may commit the Plan Trust to pay, and shall paycause any Plan Trust Entity to pay, any such accounting firm's reasonable compensation for services rendered and expenses incurred;

- retain and pay such other third parties as necessary or appropriate to assist the Trustee in carrying out its powers and duties under this Agreement. The Trustee may commit the Plan Trust to <u>pay</u>, and shall <u>paycause any Plan Trust Entity to pay</u>, all such persons or entities reasonable compensation for services rendered and expenses incurred;
- (23) employ employees to assist the Trustee in carrying out its powers and duties under this Agreement. The Trustee shall pay all such employees reasonable salaries in the amounts it shall determine are appropriate. If the Trustee employs employees, it shall establish payroll procedures and pay any and all

- federal, state or local tax withholding required under applicable law with respect to such employees, obtain workers' compensation insurance, and take all other actions it deems necessary
- (24)invest any moneys held as part of the Trust Assets in accordance with the terms of Section III.**EF**.2 hereof;
- (25)represent the interests of the Beneficiaries with respect to any matters relating to the Plan, this Agreement-or, the Plan Trust, or any Plan Trust Entity affecting the rights of such Beneficiaries; and engage in any transaction necessary or appropriate to the foregoing or to facilitate implementation of the Plan and the Confirmation Order, including but not limited to, entering into, performing and exercising rights under contracts and leases on behalf of the Plan Trust or any Plan Trust Entity;
- (26)act as disbursing agent for the FDIC to pay the Trade Creditor Recovery to the Trade Creditors from the FDIC Carve-out pursuant to the FDIC Settlement Agreement, and to otherwise perform all duties and enforce all rights of the Trustee or TBW under the FDIC Settlement Agreement;
- (27)act as disbursing agent for the FDIC to disburse the BB&T Funds to (i) borrowers harmed by TBW and Colonial Bank as a result of TBW's insolvency or (ii) investors that funded loans that did not close, as more particularly described in Section 1.7(d) of the FDIC Settlement Agreement;

and-

- (28)act as disbursing agent to disburse the Additional Trade Creditor Recovery and any other payments or distributions to be made to Holders of Allowed Trade Claims or other Claims pursuant to the Bayview Settlement Agreement, the Freddie Mac Settlement Agreement, the Natixis Settlement Agreement, the Sovereign Settlement Agreement, and any other settlement agreement to which any Debtor or the Plan Trust is or becomes a party;
- (29)serve as a director, officer or manager of TBW and any of its subsidiaries. with the power to appoint and remove any director, officer or manager of TBW and any of its subsidiaries, and in such capacities act as the Trustee deems appropriate with respect to any and all matters impacting TBW or any of its subsidiaries after the Effective Date, all as determined by the Trustee and in accordance with this Agreement; and
- (30)(28) assume such other responsibilities and powers as may be vested in the Trustee (in it capacity as such or in its capacity as an officer, director, manager, shareholder or member of any Plan Trust Entity) pursuant to the Plan or Bankruptcy Court Order or not inconsistent therewith, or as may be necessary and proper to carry out the provisions of the Plan.

- C. Power to Declare-a Disputed Ownership FundFunds. The Trustee shall be permitted to make the election described in § 1.468B-9(c)(2)(ii) of the Treasury Regulations to treat any portion of the Plan Trust subject to Disputed Claims as a "disputed ownership fund." The Trustee may establish one or more disputed ownership funds with respect to Disputed Claims. The Trustee may also, to the extent permitted by law, make such an election for state and local income tax purposes. If the election is made to treat theany Disputed Claims as a "disputed ownership fund," then the Plan Trust may (i) allocate taxable income or loss to the such Disputed Claims, with respect to any given taxable year (but only for the portion of the taxable year with respect to which such Claims are Disputed), and (ii) distribute Plan Trust Assets from the Disputed Claims Reserve as, when, and to the extent, such Claims that are Disputed cease to be Disputed, whether by virtue of becoming Allowed or otherwise resolved, subject to such approval of the Bankruptcy Court, if any, as may be required. The Beneficiaries will be bound by such election, if made by the Trustee, and, as such, will, for U.S. federal income tax purposes (and, to the extent permitted by law, for state and local income tax purposes), report consistently therewith.
- **D.** Power to Establish Qualified Settlement Funds. The Trustee shall be permitted to establish one or more "qualified settlement funds" within the meaning of the Internal Revenue Code and related Treasury Regulations with respect to any WARN Act Claims, or any other Claims for which a "qualified settlement fund" is required or permitted by law.
- Entity shall be obligated to inquire into the authority of the Trustee or a Trust Administrator in same exion with the protection, conservation or disposition of Trust Assets or Plan Trust Assets. It is intended that a signed copy of this Agreement serve as adequate proof of the Trustee's authority of the Trustee to act, if such proof is required for any reason by any third party. If proof of authority of a Trust Administrator is required for any reason by any third party, it is intended that a signed copy of this Agreement, together with a letter signed by the Trustee confirming that such Person is as of a relevant date a Trust Administrator, serve as adequate proof of the authority of a Trust Administrator to act. If proof of authority of a director, officer or manager of TBW or any of its subsidiaries is required for any reason by any third party, it is intended that a signed copy of this Agreement, together with a letter signed by the Trustee confirming that such Person is as of a relevant date a director, officer or manager of such entity, serve as adequate proof of the authority of such Person to act.

E. Limitations on Trustee's Authority; Permitted Investments.

1. No Trade or Business. The Trustee shall not and shall not be authorized to engage in any trade or business with respect to the Trust Assets (and shall not allow any Plan Trust Entity to do so with respect to Entity Assets) or any proceeds therefrom, except to the extent reasonably necessary to, and consistent with, the liquidating purpose of the Plan Trust within the meaning of Treasury Regulation § 301.7701-4(d). The Trustee shall take such actions consistent with the orderly liquidation of the Trust Assets and the Entity Assets as required by applicable law and consistent with the treatment of the Plan Trust as a liquidating trust under Treasury Regulation § 301.7701-4(d).

2. Permitted Investments. The Trustee is authorized to invest Trust Assets only in investments (a) that are consistent with the provisions of § 345 of the Bankruptcy Code unless ordered otherwise by the Bankruptcy Court and (b) that a liquidating trust within the meaning of Treasury Regulation § 301.7701-4(d) may be permitted to hold, pursuant to the Treasury Regulations, whether set forth in IRS rulings, notices, guidelines or other IRS pronouncements. Subject to the foregoing, investments of Trust Assets (i) shall be administered in view of the manner in which individuals of ordinary prudence, discretion and judgment would act in the management of their own affairs and (ii) shall be limited to demand and time deposits, such as certificates of deposit, having maturities of not more than one year, and U.S. Treasury bills or other temporary liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of Cash. The Trustee shall have no liability for interest or producing income on any moneys received by the Plan Trust hereunder, and held for Distribution or payment to the Beneficiaries, except for interest income actually received by the Trustee. The Trustee shall have no liability for any investment of Trust Assets which is approved by the Advisory Committee or the Bankruptcy Court. The Trustee shall cause any Plan Trust Entity to comply with this paragraph as regards any Entity Assets comprised of Cash.

2182597v<mark>9<u>18</u></mark>

- 3. <u>Advisory Committee</u>. The Trustee must obtain the approval of the Advisory Committee regarding all Material Decisions, as described in Section V.D. Further, the Advisory Committee, and not the Trustee, shall have the sole power to make any Unanimous Decision, as described in Section V.E.
- 4. <u>No Investment Company</u>. The Trustee shall not take any action that would result in the Plan Trust becoming subject to registration as an "investment company" pursuant to the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.
- 5. No Commingling. All moneys and other Assets received by the Plan Trust shall, until distributed or paid over as herein provided, be held in trust for the benefit of the Beneficiaries, but need not be segregated from other Trust Assets, unless and to the extent required by law or by the Plan. The Trustee shall not commingle any of the Trust Assets with its own property or the property of any other Person. The Trustee shall cause any Plan Trust Entity to comply with this paragraph as regards any Entity Assets comprised of Cash.

G. F. Reliance by Trustee.

1. The Trustee, and the Trustee's agents (including any Trust Administrator), may rely upon, and shall be protected in acting upon, any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, notice, request, consent, order, or other paper or document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.

- 2. The Trustee, and the Trustee's agents (including any Trust Administrator), may consult with legal counsel, financial or accounting advisors, and other professionals to be selected by <a href="https://example.com/https://exa
- 3. Persons dealing with the Trustee or any of the Trustee's agents (including any Trust Administrator) shall look only to the Trust Assets to satisfy any liability incurred by the Trustee or the Plan Trust to such personPerson in carrying out the terms of this Agreement, and the. The Trustee shall have no personal obligation to satisfy any such liability, except to the extent such liability or obligation are determined by a Final Order to have resulted primarily and directly from the Trustee's gross negligence or willful misconduct.
- H. G. Authorization to Expend Trust Assets. The Trustee may incur reasonable and necessary expenses in liquidating and converting to Cash the Trust Assets to Cash, any Plan Trust Entity's Entity Assets, and any Debtor's interest in Retained Assets. Such expenses shall be payable from the corpus of the Plan Trust with a priority that is senior to Distributions to Beneficiaries. Without limiting the foregoing, the Trustee may expend the Trust Assets (i) to pay fees and expenses of administration of the Plan Trust to perform the Trustee's obligations under this Agreement, or to cause any Plan Trust Entity or Debtor to liquidate its asset for the benefit of this Plano Trust (including, but not limited to, the fees and expenses of the Trustee, expenses of the Advisory Committee members and fees and expenses of their respective counsel, any taxes imposed on the Plan Trust or in respect of the Trust Assets, and fees and expenses in connection with litigation), and (ii) to satisfy other liabilities incurred or assumed by the Plan Trust or to which the Trust Assets or Entity Assets are otherwise subject under the Plan in accordance with this Agreement or the Plan, the Plan or the Confirmation Order. With respect to any Entity Assets, the Trustee may expend Trust Assets to cause any Plan Trust Entity to monetize its Entity Assets, and to maintain such assets until they are sold and the proceeds remitted to the Plan Trust. With respect to any Retained Assets, the Trustee may expend Trust Assets to cause any Debtor to monetize the Retained Assets to which such Debtor has legal title, and to maintain such assets until they are sold and the proceeds remitted to the Plan Trust. The Trustee shall not need the approval of the Bankruptcy Court to make any payment that the Trustee is authorized to make under this Agreement.
- In the designation of Trust Administrators for the Plan Trust (each, a "Trust Administrator"). A Trust Administrator shall serve at the discretion of the Trustee. The appointment or removal of a Trust Administrator shall be set forth in a letter or other notice of appointment or removal, addressed to such Person and signed by the Trustee, and shall be effective on the date stated in such notice. It shall be the duty of any Trust Administrator to assist the Trustee in the performance of the Trustee's routine and administrative duties under this Agreement. In furtherance of the foregoing, a Trust Administrator shall have the authority to take any of the following actions, in the name of or on behalf of the Plan Trust or any Estate of any Debtor:

- 1. handle all matters relating to the administration of mortgage loans or other
 Trust Assets owned by the Plan Trust, including without limitation the
 execution of documents on behalf of the Plan Trust or the Estate of any
 Debtor in connection with the amendment, refinancing, payoff or
 enforcement of any mortgage loan or other Trust Asset;
- 2. <u>deposit funds into or transfer funds among any of the accounts maintained by the Trust, on the sole signature of the Trust Administrator or its authorized officer:</u>
- <u>3.</u> withdraw funds from any general operating account of the Plan Trust, on the sole signature of the Trust Administrator or its authorized officer, to pay routine or ordinary expenses of the Plan Trust;
- 4. <u>obtain and preserve the Plan Trust's qualification to do business in any</u> <u>jurisdiction in which such qualification is necessary;</u>
- 5. assist the Trustee in the routine tasks of the Trustee, in its capacity as an officer, director, manager, shareholder or member of any Plan Trust Entity or Debtor, and handle all of the matters described in paragraphs 1. through 4 above, but with respect to the Retained Assets or the Entity Assets, as applicable; and

2182597v918

<u>6.</u> comply with any written directive of the Trustee with respect to administrative matters or the routine operations of the Plan Trust.

In no event shall a Trust Administrator have the authority to withdraw funds or assets from any of the Plan Trust's deposit, time, investment or securities accounts, other than (i) if necessary to effect transfers among such accounts or (ii) to withdraw funds from any general operating account of the Plan Trust to pay routine or ordinary expenses of the Plan Trust. All such transfers and withdrawals shall be reflected in the books and records of the Plan Trust.

J. Post Effective Date Management. As provided in the Plan, TBW, HAM and REO may continue to exist after the Effective Date. Thus, after the establishment of the Plan Trust and the appointment of the Trustee, TBW, HAM and REO may continue to act, by and through their directors, officers and managers, to the fullest extent provided under their respective articles, bylaws, limited liability company agreements and other organizational documents, and applicable law.

K. H. Compensation.

- 1. The Plan Trust shall reimburse the Trustee for the actual reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Trustee, including, without limitation, necessary travel, lodging, postage, telephone and facsimile charges upon receipt of periodic billings.
- 2. Subject to such adjustments as may be agreed to from time to time by the Advisory Committee and the Trustee, the Trustee and employees or agents of

the Trustee shall be entitled to receive compensation pursuant to that certain engagement letter attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u> for services rendered on behalf of the Plan Trust. Any change in compensation must be agreed to by the Advisory Committee and the Trustee, and further Order of the Bankruptcy Court is not required.

- 3. The Trust Assets shall be subject to the Claims of the Trustee and agents that the Trustee may engage as described in such engagement letter, and the Trustee shall be entitled, out of any Cash in the Plan Trust, to pay—its compensation, to itself and such agents, and reimburse itself and such agents for all actual out-of-pocket expenses, and satisfy or recover any and all loss, liability, expense, or damage which the Trustee or such agents may incur or sustain in good faith in the exercise and performance of any of the powers and duties of the Trustee.
- 4. All compensation and other amounts payable to the Trustee, for itself or such agents, shall be paid from the Trust Assets. If the Cash in the Plan Trust shall be insufficient to compensate and reimburse the Trustee and such agents, as the case may be, for any amounts to which it Trustee, for itself or its agents, is entitled hereunder, then the Trustee is hereby authorized to reduce to Cash in a commercially reasonable manner that portion of the Trust Assets necessary so as to effect such compensation and reimbursement.

2182597v918

- 5. The Trustee shall not be required to file a fee application to pay itselfany compensation provided for under this Agreement. The Trustee's compensation shall, however, be subject to review and, if appropriate, objection by the Advisory Committee.
- **L. I. Bond.** If the Bankruptcy Court so orders, the Trustee shall serve with a bond, the costs and expenses of which shall be paid by the Plan Trust.
- M. J. Insurance. The Trustee shall obtain insurance with respect to the liabilities and obligations of the Trustee and the Advisory Committee under this Agreement (in the form of an errors and omissions policy or other appropriate policy), the costs and expenses of which shall be paid by the Plan Trust, unless both the Trustee and the Advisory Committee unanimously agree that such insurance shall not be required.
- N. K. Confidentiality. The Trustee shall, and shall cause its agents and representatives to, hold strictly confidential and not use for personal gain any material, non-public information of or pertaining to any Person or matter to which any of the Trust Assets relates or of which the Trustee has become aware in its capacity as Trustee.
- **L. Final Decree.** It shall be the duty of the Trustee to seek and obtain a final decree or decrees from the Bankruptcy Court upon full administration of the Plan Trust.
- **P. M. Termination.** The duties, responsibilities and powers of the Trustee shall terminate on the date the Plan Trust is dissolved under applicable law in accordance with the Plan.

SECTION IV BENEFICIARIES

- A. Maintenance of List of Beneficiaries. The Beneficiaries of the Plan Trust are comprised of all Holders of Allowed Claims against the Debtors, whether such Claims are Allowed as of or subsequent to the Effective Date. If a Holder's Disputed Claim is resolved and becomes an Allowed Claim, the Holder shall receive the same percentage recovery as Holders of Allowed Claims in the same Class as if the Holder's Allowed Claim was an Allowed Claim as of the Effective Date of the Plan; provided, however, that post-Effective Date interest shall not be allowed. The Trustee shall maintain a register identifying the record Holders of Beneficial Interests in the Trust. All references to Beneficiaries shall mean Beneficiaries of record as set forth in the official register maintained by the Trustee and the term shall not mean any Holder of an Allowed Claim that is not recorded as a Beneficiary in such official registry.
- **B.** Identification of Beneficiaries. In order to determine the actual names, addresses and tax identification numbers of the Beneficiaries with respect to any Debtor, the Trustee shall be entitled to conclusively rely on the names, addresses and tax identification numbers set forth in (1) such Debtor's Schedules, (2) such Debtor's Claims Register, or (3) the proofsProofs of <a href="mailto:claim-clai
- **C. Withholding.** Unless otherwise permitted to be paid directly to a Beneficiary, the Trustee shall withhold from the amounts distributable to the Beneficiaries from the Trust Assets at any time such sum or sums as may be required to be withheld under the income tax laws of the United States or of any state or political subdivision thereof.
- **D.** Tax Identification Numbers. The Trustee shall require any Beneficiary to furnish to the Trustee its Employer or Taxpayer Identification Number as assigned by the IRS, and the Trustee may condition any Distribution to any Beneficiary upon receipt of such identification number. For the avoidance of doubt, the Trustee may request Bankruptcy Court authority to release funds set aside for Distribution to Beneficiaries who have not provided proper tax identification numbers and make those funds available to the remaining Beneficiaries.

SECTION V ADVISORY COMMITTEE

A. Duties and Powers. The Advisory Committee³ is established pursuant to the terms of the Plan and shall function consistent with the Plan and this Agreement. The Advisory Committee shall represent the interests of the Holders of Beneficial Interests during the existence of the Plan Trust, and shall have the obligation to undertake in good faith each of the acts and responsibilities set forth for the Advisory Committee in this Agreement or in the Plan for the

As used in this Agreement, the term "Advisory Committee" shall have the same meaning as the term "Plan Advisory Committee" used in the Plan.

benefit of the Beneficiaries. The Advisory Committee shall begin to act on the Effective Date and shall oversee the actions of the Trustee in accordance with the terms of the Plan Trust Agreement until further Order of the Bankruptcy Court.

- B. Advisory Committee Members. The Advisory Committee shall be appointed by the Creditors' Committee and identified in the Plan Supplement, and the Confirmation Order shall confirm the appointment of the initial Advisory Committee. The Advisory Committee shall consist of three (3) members. The initial three members shall be from the members of the Creditors' Committee. In the event that less than three (3) of the members of the Creditors' Committee notify counsel to the Creditors' Committee of their intent to serve on the Advisory Committee within fifteen (15) days prior to the Confirmation Hearing, then the Creditors' Committee will either (i) choose from among the Holders of Unsecured Claims to fill any vacancy until three (3) members of such designation have been selected or (ii) elect not to fill the vacancy. In the event of the resignation of a member of the Advisory Committee, the remaining members may, but need not, designate a successor from among the Holders of Unsecured Claims. Unless and until any such vacancy is filled, the Advisory Committee shall function with such reduced membership.
- C. Advisory Committee is a Fiduciary. The fiduciary duties that applied to the Creditors' Committee prior to the Effective Date, as limited by the exculpations, indemnifications, releases and other protections provided in the Plan, this Agreement, and the Confirmation Order, shall apply to the Advisory Committee. The duties, rights and powers of the Advisory Committee shall terminate upon the termination of the Plan Trust.
- D. Material Decisions. The Trustee shall consult with the Advisory Committee generally and shall obtain the consent or approval of the Advisory Committee before making any of the following decisions (each, a "Material Decision") which may, where indicated below, be obtained by Notice Approval (as defined below):
 - 1. the Trustee's commencement of the prosecution of (i) any Cause of Action in which the amount sought to be recovered (a) is greater than \$1 million and less than or equal to \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may be obtained by Notice Approval, or (b) exceeds \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may not be obtained by Notice Approval, and (ii) any objection to a Claim having a stated amount (a) greater than \$1 million and less than or equal to \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may be obtained by Notice Approval or (b) greater than \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may not be obtained by Notice Approval;
 - 2. the Trustee's determination not to object to a Claim having a stated amount (i) in excess of \$1 million and less than or equal to \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may be obtained by Notice Approval, or (ii) in excess of \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may not be obtained by Notice Approval;
 - 3. the settlement of (i) any Cause of Action in which the amount sought to be recovered (a) is greater than \$1 million and less than or equal to \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may be obtained by Notice Approval, or (b)

exceeds \$5 million, the approval or consent of which may not be obtained by Notice Approval and (ii) any Disputed Claim having a stated amount (a) greater than \$1 million and less than or equal to \$5 million and to approve any release or indemnification to be given by the Trustee in connection with any such settlement, the approval or consent of which may be obtained by Notice Approval, or (b) in excess of \$5 million and to approve any release or indemnification to be given by the Trustee in connection with any such settlement, the approval or consent of which may not be obtained by Notice Approval;

- 4. any sale of Assets Trust Assets by the Plan Trust, sale of Entity Assets by a Plan Trust Entity, or sale of Retained Assets by a Debtor for a price in excess of \$500,000, other than a sale of REO; and, provided further, the Trustee may release any individual mortgage loan (including for an amount less than the outstanding unpaid balance of the loan) without the approval of the Advisory Committee;
- 5. all Distributions proposed by the Trustee;
- 6. the investment of Cash or other Trust Assets, except for investments in demand and time deposits, such as certificates of deposit, having maturities of less than one year and in U.S. Treasury bills;

2182597v918

- 7. the dissolution of any Debtor;
- 8. the waiver of the attorney-client privilege by the Trustee with respect to any Cause of Action or other litigation related matter, as described in Section XI.C of this Agreement;
- 9. the election to treat any portion of the Plan Trust as a "disputed ownership fund" pursuant to § 1.468B-9(c)(2)(ii) of the Treasury Regulations;
- 10. the election described in Article 7.J. of the Plan as regards undeliverable Distributions; and
- 11. the election to abandon any Trust Asset under Section II.B.2(iii).

Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, the approval of any Material Decision that the Trustee may obtain by Notice Approval may be obtained in the following manner (such process being referred to herein as "Notice Approval"): The Trustee shall give written notice to the Advisory Committee of any request to approve a Material Decision. The Advisory Committee shall have two (2) Business Days to deliver a response to such request to the Trustee. In the event emergency action is required with respect to any such matter as to which the Trustee is seeking Notice Approval and the Trustee is unable to provide two (2) Business Days' notice as required herein, then, to avoid injury or harm to the Plan Trust Assets or its Beneficiaries, the Trustee may in its written request to approve a Material Decision shorten the notice period (a "Shortened Notice") and shall therein give such notice as may be practicable under the circumstances. If the Trustee does not receive a written objection to such request from a member of the Advisory Committee

within the applicable time period as provided herein or in any Shortened Notice, the Trustee shall be deemed to have obtained the approval and consent of such member of the Advisory Committee to the Trustee's request to approve such Material Decision. All requests to approve a Material Decision, including any Shortened Notice, and all responses, if any, shall be given in accordance with Section 11.XI.H of this Agreement, which allows for notice by electronic mail, among other means. "Business Day" means any day except a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York City are authorized by law to close.

After consulting with the Advisory Committee, the Trustee may also, but is not required to, submit a proposed settlement to a court of competent jurisdiction, including the Bankruptcy Court, for its approval, and may comply with any settlement approved by such court.

If any decision described in paragraphs 1 through 11 above of this Section V.D is to be effectuated by TBW, HAM or REO after the Effective Date of the Plan, rather than effectuated by the Plan Trust or the Trustee, then TBW, HAM or REO, as the case may be, shall obtain the consent or approval of the Advisory Committee, or follow the requirements applicable to the Trustee to obtain Notice Approval, of such decision prior to making such decision, and such decision shall be considered a Material Decision for all purposes under this Agreement.

E. Unanimous Decisions. The Advisory Committee shall have the absolute right and power to determine the following by the unanimous vote of all the members of the Advisory Committee (each, a "Unanimous Decision"):

2182597v918

- 1. to change the initial bond (if any bond is required by the Bankruptcy Court) to be posted by the Trustee; and
- 2. to petition the Bankruptcy Court to remove the Trustee for Cause (as such term is defined in Section IX.A below), or to select a successor Trustee when a successor is required hereunder.
- F. Conflicts. If the Trustee in good faith perceives a conflict between a provision of this Agreement and a direction by the Advisory Committee, the Trustee may promptly deliver a notice to the Advisory Committee requesting clarification and proposing a course of action to be taken by the Trustee. If the Trustee does not receive a written response within three (3) Business Days after receipt of such notice by the Advisory Committee, the Trustee may take such actions as it deems advisable and consistent with the terms of the Plan and this Agreement. In the event a response to such notice is timely received and a disagreement among the parties as to the correct course of action persists, the Trustee shall promptly seek resolution of such matter by the Bankruptcy Court. In the event emergency action is required by the Trustee, and the Trustee is unable to provide three (3) Business Days' prior written notice of a conflict, the Trustee is authorized to act notwithstanding the perceived conflict in order to avoid irreparable injury or harm to the Plan Trust Assets and its Beneficiaries and shall give such notice, if any, as may be practicable under the circumstances.
- G. Bylaws and Voting; Selection of Chair; Execution of Documents. The members of the Advisory Committee may adopt bylaws. A majority of the members of the Advisory Committee shall constitute a quorum. Except with regard to a Unanimous Decision, a majority vote

is required for the Advisory Committee to act on matters before it. In the case of a tie vote, including a tie vote on any Material Decision, the vote of the Trustee shall be taken to break the tie. The Advisory Committee may meet and vote in person or telephonically, and each member shall be entitled to receive reasonable notice of any such meeting. The members of the Advisory Committee shall select a Chair, and the Chair shall be authorized to execute any document and give any notice provided for herein on behalf of the Advisory Committee.

- **H. Reporting.** The Trustee shall submit such reports as it deems reasonable to the Advisory Committee (but at a minimum quarterly), including, without limitation, reports on the commencement and prosecution of Causes of Action and the proceeds of liquidation of the Trust Assets. The Trustee shall also report to the Advisory Committee, at the request of any member of the Advisory Committee, on any matter that reasonably relates to the Trust Assets; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that in providing such reports the Trustee shall not take any action that will in any way infringe on the attorney-client privilege or jeopardize the viability of on-going litigation by reporting on Causes of Action directly or indirectly to any interested parties that may be on the Advisory Committee.
- No Compensation; Reimbursement of Committee Members. The members of the Advisory Committee shall serve without compensation, except for reimbursement of fees and expenses as provided for in the Plan and this Agreement. The Plan Trust shall reimburse each member of the Advisory Committee for its respective reasonable and documented expenses, including out-of-pocket expenses relating to airfare, hotel, meals and other travel costs, and pastage₁₈ telephone and facsimile charges, for work performed on behalf of or relating to the administration of the Plan Trust or the Advisory Committee, and other necessary expenses. Reimbursement shall include expenses incurred for fees and expenses of counsel to any member of the Advisory Committee in assisting such member to perform its duties hereunder. Reimbursement for fees and expenses of each Advisory Committee member and its counsel shall be subject to a cap to be determined jointly by the Advisory Committee and the Trustee. All amounts payable pursuant to this paragraph shall be paid from the Trust Assets. If the Cash in the Plan Trust shall be insufficient to effect such reimbursement, then the Trustee is hereby authorized to reduce to Cash in a commercially reasonably manner that portion of the Trust Assets necessary to effect The members of the Advisory Committee shall not receive fees or such reimbursement. compensation from the Plan Trust for their service as members thereof. The Advisory Committee shall not retain counsel for the Advisory Committee at the expense of the Plan Trust, unless pursuant to an Order of the Bankruptcy Court for cause shown.
- J. Objection to Fees. The Advisory Committee shall have the right, within 7 days from the delivery of a fee statement, to object to the fees of any professional retained by either the Plan Trust or the Advisory Committee. The objection shall be lodged by giving notice of any such objection to the professional seeking compensation or reimbursement. For an objection to be valid, it shall be in writing and set forth in detail the specific fees objected to and the basis for the objection. Any objection that remains unresolved 15 days after it is made may be submitted to the Bankruptcy Court for resolution. The uncontested portion of each invoice shall be paid within 20 days after its delivery to the Advisory Committee and the Trustee.

K. Termination. The duties, responsibilities and powers of the Advisory Committee shall terminate on the date the Plan Trust is dissolved under applicable law in accordance with the Plan.

SECTION VI DISTRIBUTIONS

- **A. Application of Trust Assets.** The Trustee shall apply Trust Assets only in accordance with this Agreement and the Plan.
- **B.** Distributions. The Trustee shall make Distributions in accordance with Article 7 of the Plan. The Trustee may hold back from any interim Distributions made under the Plan amounts credited to Reserves.
- C. Reserves Established by Trustee. The Trustee shall maintain the Plan Trust Operating Expense Reserve, the Administrative and Priority Claims Reserve, and the Disputed Claims Reserve, as provided for in Article 7.C of the Plan. The Trustee may decrease the amount of any Reserve established for any Estate, and may allocate Plan Trust expenses among the Estates and the various Reserves established for the Estates of the Debtors, as the Trustee determines is appropriate; provided, however, the Trustee shall not decrease the amount allocated to the Administrative and Priority Claims Reserve or any Disputed Claims Reserve without seeking approval of the Bankruptcy Court and in connection therewith, providing notice of any applicable proceedings in the Bankruptcy Court (i) in connection with any proceeding seeking to reduce the amounts allocated to the Administrative and Priority Claim Reserve, to all parties holding an Administrative or Priority Claim, and (ii) in connection with any proceeding seeking to reduce the amounts allocated to any Disputed Clams Reserve of any Estate, to all parties holding a Disputed Claim against such Estate.
- **D. Priorities**. Cash available for distribution pursuant to Paragraph B of this Section VI with respect to each Debtor's Estate shall be paid in accordance with the priorities provided for in Article 7.E of the Plan.
- **E.** *De Minimis* **Distributions.** All *De Minimis* Distributions shall be administered as provided for in Article 7.H of the Plan.
- **F. Undeliverable Distributions.** Any undeliverable Distributions shall be administered as provided for in Article 7.J of the Plan.
- **G.** Compliance with Laws. Any and all Distributions made by the Trustee shall be in compliance with applicable laws, including, but not limited to, applicable tax, federal and state securities laws.

SECTION VII REPORTS, TAX MATTERS, BOOKS AND RECORDS

- **A. Initial Valuation.** The Trustee shall file with the Bankruptcy Court as soon as practicable after the Effective Date an initial valuation of the Trust Assets, as more particularly described in Section II.F of this Agreement.
- **B.** Annual Financial Statements and Statement to Beneficiaries. As soon as practicable after the end of each calendar year and as soon as practicable upon termination of the Plan Trust, the Trustee shall (i) submit to the Bankruptcy Court and the Advisory Committee financial statements of the Plan Trust at the end of such calendar year or period and the receipts and disbursements of the Plan Trust for such period, and (ii) subject to Section VII.D, mail to each Beneficiary a separate statement for each Beneficiary setting forth such Beneficiary's share of items of income, gain, loss, deduction or credit and advise all such Beneficiaries to report such items on their federal and state income tax returns, except as otherwise provided for U.S. federal income tax purposes in the event that the Trustee timely elects to treat any portion of the Plan Trust as a "disputed ownership fund" pursuant to § 1.468B-9(c)(2)(ii) of the Treasury Regulations.
- C. Quarterly Filings with Bankruptcy Court and U.S. Trustee. From the Effective Date until a Final Decree is entered, the Trustee shall, within 45 days of the end of each calendar quarter, file with the Bankruptcy Court and submit to the U.S. Trustee quarterly reports setting forth all receipts and disbursements of the Plan Trust as required by the U.S. Trustee guidelines.
- Prederal Income Tax. Except to the extent that any portion of the Plan Trust is treated as a "disputed ownership fund" or a "qualified settlement fund" for U.S. federal income tax consequences, the following shall apply:
 - 1. Tax Reporting. Subject to definitive guidance from the IRS or a court of competent jurisdiction to the contrary (including the issuance of applicable Treasury Regulations, the receipt by the Trustee of a private letter ruling if the Trustee so requests one, or the receipt of an adverse determination by the IRS upon audit if not contested by the Trustee), the Trustee shall file returns for the Plan Trust as a grantor trust pursuant to Treasury Regulation § 1.671-4(a).
 - 2. <u>Allocations of Plan Trust Taxable Income</u>. Items of income, gain, loss, expense, and other tax items will be allocated to those Beneficiaries that would be entitled to receive such items if they constituted Cash distributions or reductions therefrom, and such Beneficiaries shall be responsible for the payment of taxes on a current basis that result from such allocations.
- **E.** Other Filings. The Trustee shall also file (or cause to be filed) any other statements, returns or disclosures relating to the Plan Trust that are required to be filed under applicable law, guidelines, rules and regulations of any Governmental Authority.
- **F. Disputed Ownership Fund Tax Effect**. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, in the event that the Trustee timely elects to treat any portion of the

Plan Trust subject to Disputed Claims as a "disputed ownership fund" pursuant to § 1.468B-9(c)(2)(ii) of the Treasury Regulations, any Holders of Claims who, as of the Effective Date, are holders of Disputed Claims shall, to the extent of such Disputed Claims, not be treated as having received any portion of the Assets upon the transfer of the Assets as to which legal or beneficial title is transferred to the Plan Trust hereunder and shall not be deemed grantors of the Plan Trust to the extent of such Disputed Claims for U.S. federal income tax purposes, but rather shall be subject to U.S. federal income taxation in accordance with rules set forth in Section 468B of the Internal Revenue Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.

- G. Qualified Settlement Fund Tax Effect. In the event that any portion of the Pan Trust is treated as a "qualified settlement fund" pursuant to § 1.468B-1 of the Treasury Regulations, the U.S. federal income tax consequences shall be determined in accordance with rules set forth in Section 468B of the Internal Revenue Code and the Treasury Regulations thereunder.
- H. G. Books and Records. The Trustee shall maintain books and records relating to the Trust Assets, the income of the Plan Trust, and the payment of expenses of, the liabilities of or assumed by, and the Claims against, the Plan Trust in such detail and for such period of time as may be necessary to enable it to make full and proper accounting in respect thereof in accordance with applicable law. Such books and records shall be maintained on a modified Cash or other comprehensive basis of accounting necessary to facilitate compliance with the tax reporting requirements of the Plan Trust. Except for reports required by this Section VII, nothing in this Agreement requires the Trustee to file any accounting with respect to Trust Assets. Holders of the Beneficial Interests shall have the right upon thirty (30) days' prior written notice delivered to the Trustee to inspect such books and records (including financial statements), subject, however, to the requesting Person entering into a confidentiality agreement, satisfactory in form and substance to the Trustee, prior to such inspection. Nothing in this Agreement provides any Beneficiary with a right to review, inspect, seek discovery of or otherwise obtain any information that is privileged or subject to a third party's rights of privacy or confidentiality.

SECTION VIII LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

A. Exculpation. Neither the Trustee nor any member of the Advisory Committee, nor their respective employees, professionals, agents, representatives or designees, including any Trust Administrator, nor any director, officer or manager of TBW or any of its subsidiaries who held such position on or after the Effective Date (each, a "Plan Trust Exculpated Party" and collectively, the "Plan Trust Exculpated Parties"), shall be liable for any Claims, causes of action, liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, costs and expenses (including attorneys' fees and expenses), and other assertions of liability (collectively "Plan Trust Released Claims") arising out of the discharge of the powers and duties conferred upon the Trustee or the Advisory Committee by this Agreement, the Plan or any Order of the Bankruptcy Court, or requested to be performed by the Trustee or any member of the Advisory Committee, other than for Plan Trust Released Claims determined by a Final Order to have arisen or resulted solely from such Plan Trust Exculpated Party's gross negligence or willful misconduct. Any action taken or omitted to be taken with the approval of the Bankruptcy Court or the Advisory Committee will conclusively be deemed not to constitute gross negligence or willful misconduct. With regard to the investment of Trust Assets, no Plan Trust Exculpated Party shall have any liability for any decision regarding the investment of Trust Assets

if that investment decision is approved by the Advisory Committee or the Bankruptcy Court. No Holder of a Claim or other Person will have or be permitted to pursue any Claim or cause of action against any Plan Trust Exculpated Party for making or approving, or not making or approving, payments or Distributions in accordance with the Plan or for implementing the provisions of the Plan. The Trustee and the members of the Advisory Committee shall have absolute discretion to pursue or not to pursue any and all Claims, Causes of Action, or other matters, activities or things as it determines is in the best interests of the Beneficiaries using their reasonable business judgment and consistent with the purposes of the Plan Trust, and shall have no liability for the outcome of their decisions, except as provided in this paragraph. The Trustee shall be entitled to enjoy all of the rights, powers, immunities and privileges applicable to a chapter 7 trustee under the Bankruptcy Code and the Advisory Committee shall be entitled to enjoy all of the rights, powers, immunities and privileges of an official committee of unsecured creditors under the Bankruptcy Code. Each of the Trustee and the members of the Advisory Committee, may, in connection with the performance of its respective functions, and in its sole and absolute discretion, consult with its attorneys, accountants, financial advisors and agents, and shall not be liable for any act taken, not taken, or suffered to be done in accordance with advice or opinions rendered by such persons, regardless of whether such advice or opinions are provided in writing. Notwithstanding such authority, neither the Trustee nor any member of the Advisory Committee shall be under any obligation to consult with its attorneys, accountants, financial advisors or agents, and their determination not to do so shall not result in the imposition of liability on the Trustee or such member or any other Plan Trust Exculpated Party, unless such determination is determined by a Final Order to be solely due to such Plan Trust Exculpated Party's gross negligence or willful misconduct. 2182597v<mark>918</mark>

Indemnification. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Plan Trust shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless each Plan Trust Exculpated Party from and against any and all Plan Trust Released Claims arising out of or resulting from such Plan Trust Exculpated Party's acts or omissions, or consequences of such acts or omissions, with respect to the implementation or administration of the Plan Trust or the Plan or the discharge of its duties hereunder or thereunder, or at the request of the Trustee or any member of the Advisory Committee, including without limitation, relating to any action, suit, proceeding or investigation brought by or threatened against such Plan Trust Exculpated Party; provided, however, that no such indemnification will be made to such Plan Trust Exculpated Party for Plan Trust Released Claims determined by a Final Order to have arisen or resulted solely from such Plan Trust Exculpated Party's gross negligence or willful misconduct. All Plan Trust Released Claims for which indemnity is provided under this Agreement to any Plan Trust Exculpated Party shall be payable on demand from Trust Assets prior to payment to Beneficiaries from Trust Assets. The Trustee may commit the Plan Trust to indemnify any Plan Trust Exculpated Party in accordance with the terms of this Section in any engagement letter or contract that the Trustee may enter into in connection with hiring or retaining such third parties pursuant to this Agreement.

SECTION IX SUCCESSOR TRUSTEE

A. Removal. The Trustee may be removed by the Bankruptcy Court upon petition made by the Advisory Committee for Cause. For purposes of the removal of the Trustee, "Cause" shall mean any of the following actions or omissions of the Trustee in connection with serving in

its capacity as Trustee for the Plan Trust: (i) the commission of an act of fraud, misappropriation, dishonesty, embezzlement, gross negligence or willful misconduct which is materially injurious to the Plan Trust or any Beneficiary; (ii) criminal felony indictment; or (iii) the continuing and/or willful failure to perform the duties or obligations of the Trustee as set forth in this Agreement, if such failure is not cured within fifteen (15) days after written notice from the Advisory Committee.

- **B.** Resignation; Death. The Trustee may resign by giving not less than thirty (30) days' prior written notice thereof to the Bankruptcy Court. Such resignation shall become effective on the later to occur of (i) the date specified in such notice and (ii) the selection of a successor and the acceptance by such successor of such appointment. If the Trustee dies, the Advisory Committee must promptly appoint a successor Trustee.
- C. Acceptance of Appointment by Successor Trustee. Any successor Trustee shall be chosen by the Advisory Committee. In the event of extended delay in the appointment by the Advisory Committee, the Bankruptcy Court shall appoint a successor Trustee. Any successor Trustee appointed hereunder shall execute an instrument accepting such appointment hereunder and shall file such acceptance with the Plan Trust records. If required as a condition to a successor Trustee's appointment, the successor should post a bond or provide evidence of insurance adequate to ensure the performance of the obligations of the successor hereunder. Thereupon, such successor Trustee shall, without any further act, become vested with all the estate's properties, rights, powers, trusts and duties of its predecessor in the Plan Trust with like effect as if originally named herein.
- D. Continuation of Plan Trust. The death, resignation or removal of the Trustee shall not operate to terminate the Plan Trust created by this Agreement or revoke any existing agency created pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or invalidate any action taken by the Trustee. The Trustee agrees that the provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Trustee and the Trustee's successors or assigns. In the event of the resignation or removal of the Trustee, the Trustee shall (if alive and competent) promptly perform each of the following:
 - 1. execute and deliver by the effective date of resignation or removal instruments conveying and transferring to such successor Trustee under the Plan Trust all the estates, properties, rights, powers, and trusts of such predecessor Trustee, and such other documents, instruments and other writings as may be reasonably required by the successor Trustee to effect the termination of the resigning or removed Trustee's capacity under this Agreement;
 - 2. deliver to the successor Trustee all documents, instruments, records and other writings relating to the Plan Trust as may be in the possession or under the control of the resigning or removed Trustee, and
 - 3. assist and cooperate in effecting the assumption of the resigning or removed Trustee's obligations and functions by the successor Trustee.

The resigning or removed Trustee hereby appoints the successor Trustee as its attorney-in-fact and agent with full power of substitution and in its name, place and stead to do any

and all such acts that such resigning or removed Trustee is obligated to perform under this Section. This power of attorney is coupled with an interest and is irrevocable.

SECTION X EVIDENCE OF AND NON-TRANSFERABILITY OF BENEFICIARY'S INTERESTS

- **A.** Beneficial Interests Maintained in Book Entry Form. All Beneficial Interests shall be uncertificated and deemed issued by book entry only, in the register maintained by the Trustee.
- **B.** Non-Transferability of Beneficial Interests. Subject to Section X.C below, the Beneficial Interests are non-transferable. Any purported assignment, pledge, mortgage, sale, transfer or other disposition other than as permitted by Section X.C below shall be void and will not be registered on the register maintained by the Trustee.
- Interests of any Beneficiary in the Plan Trust are not transferable except after written notice to the Trustee *only*: (i) pursuant to applicable laws of descent and Distribution (as in the case of a deceased individual Beneficiary); or (ii) by operation of law (as in the case of a merger of a Beneficiary that is an entity); or (iii) pursuant to any applicable rights of the Federal Housing Finance Agency under the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 as Conservator of Freddie Mac. The Trustee shall not be required to record any transfer in favor of any transferee which, in the society of the Interest in the Plan Trust. Until a transfer of a Beneficial Interest is in fact recorded on the books and records maintained by the Trustee for the purpose of identifying Beneficiaries, the Trustee, whether or not in receipt of documents of transfer or other documents relating to the transfer, may nevertheless make Distributions and send communications to Beneficiaries, as though it has no notice of any such transfer, and in so doing the Trustee shall be fully protected and incur no liability to any purported transferee or any other Person.
- **D.** Beneficial Interests in Plan Trust Not a Security. Under § 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code, the issuance and transfer of Beneficial Interests under the Plan shall be exempt from registration under the Securities Act of 1933 and applicable state and local laws requiring registration of securities.

SECTION XI MISCELLANEOUS

A. Amendment; Waiver. This Agreement cannot be amended or waived without the majority vote of the Advisory Committee (or, in the event that there are less than three (3) members then serving, the unanimous vote of the Advisory Committee) and the consent of the Trustee; provided, however, that no change shall be made to this Agreement that would adversely affect the federal income tax status of the Plan Trust as a "grantor trust" in accordance with Section VII.D. All amendments to this Agreement shall be in writing and signed by the Trustee and the Chair of the Advisory Committee.

- **B.** Intention of Parties to Establish Grantor Trust. This Agreement is intended to create a grantor trust for United States federal income tax purposes and, to the extent provided by law, shall be governed and construed in all respects as a grantor trust.
- C. Successor; Preservation of Privilege. The Plan Trust shall be the successor to the Debtors and/or the Creditors' Committee for the purposes of §§ 1123, 11291129, 1142 and 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code and with respect to all Causes of Action and other litigation-related matters. In connection with the rights, Claims, and Causes of Action that constitute the Trust Assets, any attorney-client privilege, work-product privilege, or other privilege or immunity attaching to any documents or communications (whether written or oral) transferred to the Plan Trust shall vest in the Plan Trust and its representatives, and the Debtor, the members of the Creditors' Committee, and the Trustee are authorized and directed to take all necessary actions to effectuate the transfer of such privileges. The Trustee and the Advisory Committee shall be deemed to have a joint and common interest and, as such, communications among the Trustee and the Advisory Committee shall be protected from disclosure. The Trustee may waive its attorney-client privilege with respect to any Cause of Action or other litigation-related matter, or portion thereof, in the Trustee's discretion, subject to the approval of the Advisory Committee.
- D. **Bankruptcy Court Jurisdiction.** As provided in Article 13 of the Plan, the Bankruptcy Court has and shall retain post-Confirmation jurisdiction over all controversies, suits and disputes that may arise under this Agreement, including, without limitation, the interpretation or enforcement of this Agreement, the Distribution of Trust Assets (including without limitation the Persons entitled to receive any Distribution and jurisdiction over any interpleader action that the Trustee may file in the Bankruptcy Court to determine the identity of such Persons), the maintenance or liquidation of any Entity Assets by any Plan Trust Entity, the maintenance or liquidation of any Retained Assets by any Debtor, any petition to remove the Trustee, and any disputes between the Trustee, the Plan Trust, the Advisory Committee, and Holders of Claims or Interests. The Trustee shall also have standing in any such proceeding to represent and enforce the rights of the Plan Trust and the Beneficiaries arising under this Agreement or the Plan, and the Advisory Committee shall have standing in any such proceeding to appear. Any and all Claims against or disputes to which the Trustee or the Advisory Committee is a party regarding this Agreement, the amount of Distributions to be made hereunder or under the Plan, or the Persons to whom such Distributions should be remitted, are subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court, to the extent the Bankruptcy Court has retained post-Confirmation jurisdiction over such matter.
- **E.** Cooperation. The Debtors shall provide the Trustee with copies of their books and records as the Trustee shall reasonably require for the purpose of performing its duties and exercising its powers hereunder.
- **F.** Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, without giving effect to rules governing the conflict of law.
- **G. Severability.** If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof to any person or circumstance shall be determined by a Final Order of a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable to any extent, then (a) such provision shall be deemed enforceable only to the extent necessary to comply with applicable law, as applied to any Persons or circumstances

as to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, and shall be enforced as so modified to the fullest extent permitted by law, and (b) the remainder of this Agreement, and the application of such provision to Persons or circumstances other than those as to which it is held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby and shall be valid and enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law.

H. **Notices.** All notices, demands, consents, requests and other communications required or permitted to be given or made hereunder (collectively, "Notices"), except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, shall be in writing, addressed to such party at its address as set forth below, and either (a) delivered in person, (b) mailed, by certified, registered or express mail, postage prepaid, (c) sent in a prepaid overnight delivery envelope via a nationally-recognized courier service (such as Federal Express), (d) faxed, or (e) sent by e-mail; provided that any party may change its address for notice by designating such party's new address-or, facsimile number_or e-mail address in a Notice to the sending party given at least five (5) Business Days before it shall become effective. All Notices shall be conclusively deemed to have been properly given when received or, if addressed in accordance with this Section and (1) if delivered in person, upon receipt, (2) if mailed by certified, registered or express mail, postage prepaid, on the third (3rd) Business Day after being deposited in the mails, (3) if sent by nationally-recognized courier service, on the next Business Day, (4) if faxed, when sent if confirmation of the transmission is shown on the sending machine, and (5) if emailede-mailed, when sent if no delivery failure message is received.

2182597v<mark>918</sub> If to the Debtors:</mark>

Taylor, Bean and Whitaker Mortgage Corp. Home America Mortgage, Inc. REO Specialists, LLC c/o Neil F. Luria Suite 120, Millenia Park One 4901 Vineland Road Orlando, FL 32811

Facsimile: 801-751-9537

Email : nluria@navigantcapitaladvisors.com

If to the Trustee:

Neil F. Luria Suite 120, Millenia Park One 4901 Vineland Road Orlando, FL 32811

Facsimile: 801-751-9537

Email: nluria@navigantcapitaladvisors.com

With a copy to:

Berger Singerman, P.A. 200 S. Biscavne Boulevard Suite 1000

Miami, FL 33131

Telephone: (305) 714-4343 Attn: Paul Steven Singerman

E-mail: singerman@bergersingerman.com

and

Berger Singerman, P.A. 350 East Las Olas Boulevard Suite 1000 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301

Telephone: (954) 627-9901

Attn: James L. Berger

E-mail: iberger@bergersingerman.com

If to members of the Advisory Committee:

2182597v918

The address—or, facsimile number or e-mail address for notices provided by such member to the Trustee

- I. **Notices if to a Beneficiary.** Any notice or other communication hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been sufficiently given, for all purposes, if deposited, postage prepaid, in a post office or letter box, and addressed in the name of and to the address set forth on the Debtor's Schedules or such Beneficiary's proofProof of claimClaim, such other notice filed with the Bankruptcy Court and the Plan Trust, or by other means reasonably calculated to apprise the Beneficiary.
- **Third-Party Beneficiary.** There shall be no third-party beneficiaries of the Plan Trust; provided, however, that the Advisory Committee shall be an express third-party beneficiary hereof.
- K. **Headings.** The section headings contained in this Agreement are solely for convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement or of any term or provision hereof.
- **Counterparts.** This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same instrument. A facsimile copy of a signature page is the equivalent of an original signature page.
- **Definitions**; Rules of Construction. Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the respective meanings assigned to such terms in the Plan. References to a

"Section" or "§"shall be to a Section to this Agreement unless otherwise specifically provided. Any term defined therein may be used in the singular or plural. The terms "include," "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by "without limitation." All pronouns used therein shall be deemed to cover all genders. Except as otherwise specified or limited therein, references to any Person include the successors and assigns of such Person. References "from" or "through" any date mean, unless otherwise specified, "from and including" or "through and including," respectively. Unless otherwise specified therein, all payments described or references to "\$" therein shall refer to United States Dollars. References to any agreement, instrument or document shall include all schedules, exhibits, annexes and other attachments thereto.

[Signatures on following page]

2182597v918

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have either executed and acknowledged this Agreement, or caused it to be executed and acknowledged on their behalf by their duly authorized officers all as of the date first above written.

НО	LOR, BEAN & WHITAKER MORTGAGE COL ME AMERICA MORTGAGE, INC., and O SPECIALISTS, LLC
	Neil F. Luria, solely in his capacity as Chief Restructuring Officer
TD	JSTEE:

2182597v<mark>9<u>18</u></mark>

Exhibit A

Engagement Letter

Exhibit B

Retained Assets

Document comparison by Workshare Professional on Sunday, July 10, 2011 9:19:54 PM

Input:				
Document 1 ID	interwovenSite://ATLDMS01/Atlanta01/2182597/9			
Description	#2182597v9 <atlanta01> - TBW Plan Trust Agreement</atlanta01>			
Document 2 ID	interwovenSite://ATLDMS01/Atlanta01/2182597/18			
Description	#2182597v18 <atlanta01> - TBW Plan Trust Agreement</atlanta01>			
Rendering set	standard			

Legend:			
<u>Insertion</u>			
Deletion			
Moved from			
Moved to			
Style change			
Format change			
Moved deletion-			
Inserted cell			
Deleted cell			
Moved cell			
Split/Merged cell			
Padding cell			

Statistics:			
	Count		
Insertions	310		
Deletions	178		
Moved from	7		
Moved to	7		
Style change	0		
Format changed	0		
Total changes	502		